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A DYNAMIC MANDATE

National Skills Framework, to provide for learnerships that
lead to the recognition of occupational qualifications. They
also address the financing of skills development through a

Underpinned by the Higher Education Act (1997), the
Skills Development Act (1998) and the White Paper for
Post-School Education and Training (2013), the NIHSS is
mandated to enhance and support higher education in
the humanities and social sciences (HSS).
Against the backdrop of current post-school educational
and social challenges, it is a role that becomes increasingly
strategic.
As a statutory body established on 5 December 2013, the

levy and the National Skills Fund (NSF).

White Paper for Post-School Education and
Training (2013)
The white paper provides, and clearly articulates, a vision
for a single, coherent and differentiated post-school
education and training system. It seeks to contribute
towards overcoming the structural challenges facing our
society by expanding access to education and training
opportunities and increasing equity, while achieving high
levels of excellence and innovation.

NIHSS also advises government and civil society on HSSrelated matters. Our focus is on equity, justice and social
responsibility and our commitment and participation
extend to the rest of Africa as we enhance and coordinate
scholarships, research and ethical practice in the HSS
fields. It is a sphere of influence greatly enhanced by our
role as custodian of the South African BRICS Think Tank.
Significantly, our mandate is closely aligned to the goals
of the National Development Plan 2030, a responsibility
underpinned by our vision and mission and the national
drive towards rapid economic transformation.

A SOLID FOUNDATION

Despite seismic shifts within our university communities,
these institutions are still the strongest and most stable
component of the country’s post-school education and
training system. Key to strengthening the system and
addressing societal needs is the principle of institutional
differentiation, which has long been recognised in policy
but has not always been supported through funding.
There is a specific focus on another major problem area:
that of inadequate and insufficient levels of research and
innovation. Both are key to economic development, and
the NIHSS is geared to play a significant and supportive
role in this regard.

National Development Plan (NDP) 2030
As mentioned, our mandate is guided by legislation in the
higher education sector, particularly the following:

Higher Education Act, 1997 (No. 101 of 1997)
This Act provides for a unified and nationally planned
system. The Act and White Paper 3: A Programme for the
Transformation of Higher Education (1997) are the basis
for transformation of the higher education sector in South
Africa. Furthermore, implementation is guided by the
National Plan for Higher Education (2001) and the 2013
White Paper for Post-School Education and Training.

Skills Development Act, 1998 (No. 97 of 1998)
This Act provides for an institutional framework to devise
and implement national, sector and workplace strategies
for development and improvement of the South African
workforce skills. These strategies are integrated within the

The NDP offers a long-term perspective on eliminating
poverty and reducing inequality by 2030. It seeks to grow
an inclusive economy, build capabilities and enhance
the capacity of the state while promoting leadership and
partnerships throughout society.
These objectives require progress on a broad front, with
three major priorities:
•

Increasing employment through accelerated economic
growth;

•

Improving the quality of education, skills development
and innovation; and

•

Building the capability of the state to play a
developmental and transformative role.

Against this backdrop the NIHSS mandate assumes
increasing national importance.

Annual Report 2016/17
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A JURISTIC ENTITY

Our mandate and mission were expanded in February
2015 when the Minister of Higher Education and Training,
Dr Bonginkosi Nzimande, made the Institute the custodian

The NIHSS is a statutory body, established
on 5 December 2013 as a juristic entity
through publication of Government Gazette
No. 37118. The Institute strives to contribute
meaningfully to ensuring the excellence,
integrity and dynamism of the humanities
and social sciences throughout Africa,
through its core functions of enhancing
and coordinating scholarship, research and
ethical practice in the HSS fields.

OUR VISION
Our vision is of a new humanities and social sciences that

of the South African BRICS Think Tank.
As a result, the strategic objectives of the Institute grew
to include:
•

Fostering

international

research

collaborations

between South Africa, the rest of Africa, and countries
of the Global South, including Brazil, India and China;
•

Acting as a dynamic broker between the worlds of
knowledge and policy action on behalf of South Africa
and the South African BRICS Think Tank; and

•

Coordinating and managing all BRICS Think Tankrelated activities on behalf of South Africa.

OUR VALUE STATEMENT AND
GUIDING PRINCIPLES

is the epicentre of scholarship, pedagogy, community
practice and social responsibility in Africa. We also envision
a tertiary system serving as an equal partner with centres
of excellence in the Global North and the Global South in
the world’s knowledge production and dissemination.

OUR MISSION
The NIHSS mission is to redress existing deficits and to
coordinate programmes, projects, collaborations and
activities in the HSS disciplines within and through existing
and future public universities.
The Institute will fulfil its mission – alone and/or in
partnership with stakeholders – by doing the following:
•

Providing strategic and intellectual resources to the
higher education sphere within the humanities and
social sciences;

•

Advancing research, teaching, and learning by ensuring
collaboration and/or coordination of the work of higher
education institutions;

•

Advising the Minister of Higher Education and
Training on matters relating to the Institute’s strategic
objectives, or on policy affecting teaching and research
in the humanities and social sciences and higher
education generally; and

•

Advocating equity, justice and social responsibility.
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We have adopted the following five values and principles
to guide our work and conduct in fulfilling our mission and
mandate:
I. The principle of cooperation and the establishment
of communities of scholarship.
From

the

Doctoral

Schools

and

Scholarships

Programme to the Catalytic Research Projects,
cooperation and networking, clusters and Humanities
Hubs are seen as a priority.
II. The principle of norm-driven internationalisation.
We live in a world more interrelated and entangled
than ever before. Academics travel, students are on
the move, ideas circulate and international epistemic
communities get stronger at the expense of their
national equivalents. There are very few universities
of note that have not included internationalisation
among their strategic goals. We advocate a focused
and norm-driven internationalisation that strengthens
Africa-wide, South–South collaborations in dialogue
with our “Northern” counterparts.

III. The principle of social responsibility and equity.
We have to be socially responsive to the socioeconomic problems that face South Africa and its
citizens. Scholarship in the humanities and social

INTEGRITY
•

Doing what we say we will do.

•

Speaking the truth and being fair in how we judge
others.

sciences must relate and connect to the lived
experiences of the national and continental majority. It
is an intellectual project premised beyond critique that
seeks to reconstruct grand narratives and possibilities
for change.
IV. The principle of functional differentiation as

CREATIVITY
•

Demonstrating a “can-do” attitude.

•

Encouraging and recognising innovation and creativity.

•

Continually seeking better or new ways of doing things.

opposed to resource differentiation.

RESPECT

Our higher education and research system must

•

Demonstrating confidence in the abilities of others.

•

Treating all colleagues and others in the way we expect

extend beyond resource inequality to encompass
different visions, focuses and priorities. We must be
flexible enough to allow for pluralism and diversity,

them to treat us.

be generous enough to allow competition between
priorities and visions and still be able to cooperate. The
key point is simply a diversity of visions that should be
expressed within any well-functioning system.
V. The principle of transformative relevance.
All Catalytic Research Projects and Working Group
initiatives must open up new areas of research, to
have a multiplier effect on future projects and serious
transformative implications for the curriculum in the
HSS.

OUR INTERNAL VALUES
TEAMWORK
•

Placing the needs of our stakeholders above our
individual needs.

•

Achieving maximum value from shared resources,
knowledge and expertise.

•

Participating and contributing in a flexible, supportive
manner.

EXCELLENCE
•

Setting high standards in whatever we do.

•

Aiming to do the best in everything we do.

•

Delivering quality work.

Annual Report 2016/17
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

OPERATIONAL PORTFOLIO
Finance

For the period under review (1 April 2016–31 March 2017),
the NIHSS had a staff complement of 33 individuals. They
formed part of the following academic and operational
portfolios:

Financial support services, and supply chain management
and procurement.

Administration
Monitoring and evaluation, reporting, grants management,
and knowledge management services.

ACADEMIC PORTFOLIO
The Academic Scholarships Directorate is responsible for
the management of the Doctoral Schools and Scholarships
Programme, the African Pathways Programme, and the
National Mentorship Programme.

Human Resources
Human resource management.

Communication and Marketing
Communication, marketing, branding, and information

The Academic Research Directorate is responsible for
Catalytic Research Projects, Humanities Hubs, Working
Groups for academic collaboration, and Professional
Associations.

technology (IT) services.

Corporate Services
Facilities management, and legal support services.

Corporate Governance
The

Academic

BRICS

Directorate

manages

the

NIHSS Board.

International Research Programme, the African Pathways
Mobility Grants Programme and the South African BRICS
Think Tank (SABTT).
Figure 1: NIHSS organisational structure as at 31 March 2017 (High Level)
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MESSAGE FROM THE MINISTER
OF HIGHER EDUCATION AND
TRAINING
“The NIHSS’ management of South Africa’s
academic and think-tank activities within
the international partnership of BRICS
countries has and will continue to make a
useful contribution to the nation’s foreign
relations. ”
Globally, in the neoliberal era, the humanities and
social sciences have become increasingly undervalued
as knowledge with a perceived commercial value has
been valued above all else. The need to study human
society and human culture has been relegated to a

Dr Blade E Nzimande, MP

lesser status. The humanities and social sciences have
gradually become victims of changing societal values

In the three short years since its inception the Institute

and priorities, shaped by the dominant economic

has made enormous progress. Its various programmes

interests and the important institutions over which they

– including doctoral scholarships, research activities,

exercise a strong influence.

international collaborations, and working partnerships

In post-apartheid South Africa, there has been another

this annual report.

with social and cultural organisations – are outlined in
factor that has de-emphasised the importance of the
human and social sciences. Under the previous racist

The NIHSS has worked closely with the universities,

system, opportunities for blacks to study mathematics,

and particularly the Deans of Humanities, to make its

the natural sciences, technology and business were

presence felt as an important new institution within the

severely restricted. Unless addressed this would not

higher education system. The NIHSS’ management of

only deny opportunities to previously disadvantaged

South Africa’s academic and think-tank activities within

individuals but would also become a deterrent to South

the international partnership of BRICS countries has

Africa’s social and economic development. An unwitting

and will continue to make a useful contribution to the

result of (correctly) focussing on previously neglected

nation’s foreign relations.

disciplines

could

be

the

neglect

of

progressive

humanities and social sciences that are equally essential

The successful implementation of these programmes

to socio-economic development.

requires visionary leadership, a stable and efficient
administrative base, and sound financial management.

In a tumultuous world – and a country going through

The fact that these conditions have been created so

significant upheavals – it is essential that we pay close

rapidly and effectively is a tribute to the work of the Board,

attention to society and culture, to understand the

the management and the staff of the Institute. I do not

world and its challenges and to deliberate on options

doubt that the Institute will continue to fulfil its mandate to

for dealing with them. In particular, scholars who can

serve the nation and the higher education system.

give their full attention to doing just this need to be
developed and supported. And so does their mutual
cooperation, within and across national borders. The

Dr B.E. Nzimande, MP

NIHSS has been established precisely for these reasons.

Minister of Higher Education and Training
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CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD
There is so much exciting and challenging
activity in the humanities and social
science fields in the country – conferences,
workshops, visiting stars, books, and
visceral designs and performances – that
we may forget that we are living through
troubled times. Even a furtive look outside
the Academy’s window will bring all the
imagery of a country, a continent, indeed,
a world in distress.
There is a simple reality that remains: no matter what our

Prof Ari Sitas, Chairperson

good intentions, multifaceted upliftment programmes and
lip service to development, the bulk of income and wealth
has moved upwards; and the risk, anxiety has moved

A big thanks has to go out to the more than 30 colleagues

downwards, where mutinous challenges are proliferating.

from the university system and the world of creativity
and design for adjudicating the Humanities and Social

On behalf of the Board of the Institute I would like to

Sciences 2017 Awards, and I am delighted at and by

congratulate Prof Sarah Mosoetsa and her colleagues

the audacity of the work celebrated. Yet we need to

for their resilience and their attempt to find a balance

acknowledge the rich trove of runners up as well.

between creativity and social responsibility.
Finally, the Institute had to navigate through a university
A careful reading of the report shows how much has been

system in crisis: restless and defiant students, polarised

supported in the university system and the partnerships

academics,

that such a system has put in place with governmental

obvious or immediate fixing. It is appropriate to start

and non-governmental organisations, with civil society

asking whether the Catalytic Research Projects and the

and with community institutions. We are excited that

multiple working groups and initiatives resonate with

the first cohort of 150 PhDs will be graduating, that the

a call for new approaches to pedagogy and curriculum

provincial Doctoral Schools are working, and that what

design. I think they can.

disenchanted

administrations

and

no

was seen as a glaring absence is being redressed.
To the Board: thank you for putting in all those thankless
I am personally very excited that after the inauguration of

hours to support this vital effort.

the Catalytic Research Projects, the NIHSS has been able
to roll out a range of very important Humanities Hubs.
We do not have the resources to craft a Smithsonian
or something that approximates the National Museum
of Anthropology in Mexico City, or the Nehru Memorial
Museum and Library in Delhi, but we can start from
small bits, gathering layers and layers of heritage and
legacies, the weaves and the thatch of an indigenous and
endogenous knowledge project.
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Prof Ari Sitas, Chairperson: NIHSS Board

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REPORT
“The 2016/17 financial year was one of
exceptional growth for the Institute. The
focus on dynamising the fields of HSS
research and teaching in South Africa
through a range of Catalytic Projects and
Humanities Hubs picked up significant
momentum.”
COMING OF AGE IN DEMANDING TIMES
It is with considerable pride that I am able to report that
the NIHSS has, in the three years since its inception,
come of age. We end this financial year well within
budget and exceeding our strategic targets. This is
gratifying and I am mindful of the exceptional support
that has helped us extend our sphere of influence way
beyond our South African borders and to the rest of the
continent into the global humanities and social sciences
(HSS) arena.
I am, however, mindful that our coming of age leaves
little room to rest on our laurels. Worldwide, higher
education is in a period of transition. We are all affected
by global dynamics and shifting relationships between
universities and their governments. South Africa is no
different. If we are to overcome our national structural
legacies, it is crucial that we prioritise and continue to
rapidly improve our knowledge production and ways of
knowing as a country.
The NIHSS is determined to build on the solid base
achieved with exceptional Ministerial support, timeous
funding, generous collaboration and innovative solutions
from scholars in the various institutions. In short, we are
in a good place and stepping into the future confident that
our role in the HSS arena cannot remain stagnant, but
must continue to grow exponentially.
We are proud to present this 2016/17 Annual Report that

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa, CEO

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
Catalytic Research Projects and Humanities
Hubs picked up momentum
The 2016/17 financial year was one of exceptional growth
for the Institute. The focus on dynamising the fields of
HSS research and teaching in South Africa through a
range of Catalytic Projects and Humanities Hubs picked
up significant momentum. This exciting, yet crucial
development ties to our mandate.
During the reporting period, 19 new Catalytic Research
Projects were supported, adding to a current overall
total of 40 projects funded to date. The projects focus
on collaborative networks whose aim is to revitalise key
areas of knowledge generation and public discourse. The
number of workshops and conferences delivered within
the Catalytic Research Programme and Humanities Hubs
by project leaders and collaborators totalled an impressive
44. This was 175% above target and indicative that the
Institute is making significant inroads into dynamising the
HSS, while delivering a high number of workshops and
conferences that are significantly changing and shifting
the HSS landscape.

highlights significant achievements of the financial year.
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The Humanities Hubs, which aim to increase funding to
civic organisations working in the HSS, while building and
strengthening collaborative networks between them and
the higher education institutions, exceeded target by 60%.
Eight were funded during the financial year.
These hubs are important because they promote and
recognise HSS scholarship in settings outside universities,
such as museums and heritage sites.
Fifty-two HSS research outputs were produced through
hub project leaders and collaborators, resulting in the
target being exceeded by 15.6%. Academic papers in
peer-reviewed journals, edited books and book chapters,
newspaper articles and conference papers accounted for
52 of the research outputs, in addition to nine “creative
outputs”.

CLOSING THE YEAR ON A HIGH NOTE
Indeed, we closed the year on a high note, with major
highlights including the successful hosting of the second
Humanities and Social Sciences: Book, Creative and Digital
Awards 2017. Thirty-three esteemed judges participated
as adjudicators, rendering the process credible and
beyond reproach and resulting in nine deserving HSS
2017 Award recipients.
The Institute also hosted its first Catalytic Research
Symposium. Three books were launched – The Unresolved
National Question (Wits Press); Breaking Intergenerational
Cycles of Repetition (Barbara Budrich Publishers); and A
Working Life, Cruel beyond Belief (Jacana).
The collaboration with the University of the Witwatersrand,

The 2016/17 financial year saw an increase of 126 doctoral
scholarships awarded, a total of 381 NIHSS-funded PhD
fellows. In addition, this year we increased the number of
non-South African doctoral students funded through our
Council for the Development of Social Science Research
in Africa (CODESRIA) partnership to 89. A major challenge
encountered during the period under review, was the
disbursement of funds from the National Students Financial
Aid Scheme (NSFAS). As expected, given the volatile higher
education space in recent times, most students have

University of Cape Town, Fort Hare University and Prof
Xolela Mangcu resulted in a very successful lecture series
on decoloniality by the distinguished Professor, Ngũgĩ wa
Thiong’o.
It proved to be a significant milestone for the Institute,
which saw the NIHSS trending on Twitter on 2 March 2017,
when the first lecture series was delivered.

HSS’s vital contribution to the developing
economies world order

applied for extensions of their scholarships. I am pleased
to note that all processes and funding have been identified

More than ever, the need for the HSS contribution in

and measures are in place to support this requirement.

defining our way forward as a country and the Global
South demands that we continually challenge our ways of

Our BRICS mandate is about fostering international

thinking and knowing. It becomes all the more critical that

research collaborations between South Africa, the rest of

the HSS community claim its rightful place in advancing

Africa and countries of the Global South, including Brazil,

knowledge production that will yield rapid, yet sustainable

India and China. As such, the NIHSS acts as a dynamic

growth solutions to challenges that confront us as part

broker between the worlds of knowledge and policy action

of the developing economies world order. Our mandate

on behalf of South Africa as the South African BRICS Think

as the NIHSS is to build HSS capacity and, significantly,

Tank, as well as managing all BRICS Think Tank-related

to ensure a meaningful contribution to the eradication

activities on behalf of the country.

of direct and indirect scourges associated with our
structural challenges such as poverty, unemployment

Seminars, workshops and conferences hosted or co-

and inequality.

hosted and funded by the NIHSS to expand the knowledge
base of Global South research and scholarship exceeded

Although the results for the year under review exceed

target by 33.3%. The number of research outputs

expectations, my team and I remain committed and are

produced by the international collaborative project

energised to continue pushing the boundaries towards

leaders and collaborators to expand the knowledge base

the realisation of our 2020 Strategic Plan.

of Global South research and scholarship in the HSS also
exceeded target.
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Thank you
A special thank-you to Dr Bonginkosi Nzimande, the
Minister of Higher Education and Training, for his bold
vision in setting up the NIHSS and pushing the important
cause of the HSS; Prof Ari Sitas, Chairperson of the
Board; and the NIHSS Board for their continued support,
guidance and encouragement.
None of the above achievements would have been
possible without the hard work and dedication of our
operational support. We have a competent Corporate
Governance unit overseeing governance requirements
with full backing from the Board; as well as a fully
functional financial team with systems in place.
During the financial year, we recruited and filled critical
positions. Our staff complement grew from 20 in
2015/16 to 33 employees. Communication and Marketing
contributed to growing the visibility of the NIHSS brand
while helping to ensure a consistently positive stakeholder
experience. I am grateful to the NIHSS team for their hard
work, passion and commitment to the Institute. Thank you
to the HSS community, our PhD fellows, project leaders,
academic reviewers, mentors, SAHUDA, CODESRIA, and
all the friends and supporters of the Institute. And finally,
thank you to the DHET and NSF staff who support our
work, especially Ms Pearl Whittle and Ms Meriam Malebo.

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa, CEO
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND CONFIRMATION FOR THE
ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm the

The Accounting Authority/Board is responsible for

following:

establishing and implementing a system of internal control
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the

•

•
•

All information and amounts disclosed in the Annual

Integrity and reliability of the performance information, the

Report are consistent with the Annual Financial

human resources information and the Annual Financial

Statements audited by the Auditor-General.

Statements.

The Annual Report is complete, accurate and is free
from any omissions.

The Auditor–General is engaged to express an independent

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance

opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.

with the guidelines as issued by National Treasury.
•

The Annual Financial Statements (Pages 77 to 120)

In our opinion, the Annual Report fairly reflects the

have been prepared in accordance with SA GRAP

operations, the performance information, the human

standards, applicable to the public entity.

resources information and the financial affairs of the
organisation, for the financial year ended 31 March 2017.

The Accounting Authority/Board is responsible for the
preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and for

Yours sincerely

the judgements made in the information.

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
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Prof Aristides Sitas
Board - Chairperson

SOURCES OF FUNDING

OPERATING CONTEXT

Our operational budget is fully funded by the Department

The NIHSS operates within an environment marked by the

of Higher Education and Training (DHET). All of the

following:

Institute’s academic programmes are funded through
designated funds from the National Skills Fund (NSF).

•

A higher education system in turmoil over fees,
content, inclusiveness and faculty transformation;

These include the Doctoral Schools and Scholarships
Programme, National Mentorship Programme (NMP),

•

A neglected humanities and social sciences;

Catalytic Research Projects (CRP), Humanities Hubs,

•

A student movement devoid of mentorship; and

Working Groups, Professional Associations, and South

•

A number of serious socio-economic challenges facing
South Africa and her citizens in a post-apartheid era,

African BRICS Think Tank activities.

complicated by an economic downgrading among
There has been a year-on-year increase in income/

ratings agencies.

revenue since inception (Figure 2).
Over time, our service delivery and operating environment
Figure 2: NIHSS revenue (2013–2017)

will be affected by many factors. In particular, the next five
years will witness:

R200 000 000

•
R148 447 294

R150 000 000

An increase in the number of students requiring
postgraduate funding;

•

Limited supervision capacity, especially in historically
black universities; and

R100 000 000

R50 000 000

•

R83 335 876

the HSS, thus serving to increase demand on the
Institute to supply resources.

R38 915 383

R0

2013–2015

Limited resources for scholarships and research for

2015–2016

2016–2017

Note: The 2013–15 financial period is over a 16-month
period from 5 December 2013 (inception of the NIHSS) to
31 March 2015.
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OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE

PERFORMANCE AND
ADMINISTRATION

During the past year, the core mandate, strategic
objectives, and goals of the Institute were achieved
through three academic directorates/programmes: the
Scholarships Directorate, the Research Directorate and
the BRICS Directorate.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND
PERFORMANCE 2016/17
During the 2016/17 financial year the NIHSS added two
strategic objectives to the existing six, Strategic Objectives
7 and 8 being in line with the expansion of our mandate to
include BRICS and the hosting of the South African BRICS

Key highlights for 2016/17 include:
•

Think Tank (SABTT).
1. Provide

doctoral

scholarships

for

postgraduate

•

students studying in the humanities and social sciences
in South Africa.

•

2. Dynamise the fields of research and teaching in the
humanities and social sciences in South Africa through
a range of Catalytic Research Projects and Humanities
Hubs.

•

3. Promote the integrity, reputation and recognition of
the humanities and social sciences within the higher
education community, the science and technology

•

community, and society at large.
4. Advance postgraduate scholarship through a range of

•

innovations and collaborative supervision of doctoral
students.
5. Build and strengthen networks and partnerships
with organisations working in areas related to the

•
•

humanities and social sciences.
6. Foster international research collaborations between
South Africa, the rest of Africa, and countries of the
Global South, including Brazil, India and China.

•
•

7. Act as a dynamic broker between the worlds of
knowledge and policy action on behalf of South Africa
as the South African BRICS Think Tank.
8. Coordinate and manage all BRICS Think Tank-related
activities on behalf of South Africa.

•

40 projects funded through the Catalytic Research
Programme. A further 18 projects funded through
Working Groups; while six Professional Associations
received support from the NIHSS.
In this financial year, a total of eight Humanities Hubs
(inclusive of Liliesleaf Farm).
Significant growth in the number of doctoral
scholarships awarded through the NIHSS. The Doctoral
Schools and Scholarships Programme grew from 255
scholarships in 2015/16, to 450 scholarships awarded
by the end of 2016/17.
An additional 111 non-South African Doctoral
students were awarded through the NIHSS-CODESRIA
Scholarships as part of the African Pathways
Programme.
By 31 March 2017, six scholarship recipients had
graduated, 11 were awaiting graduation, and 14 had
submitted their thesis for examination.
21 mentors were appointed to provide mentorship to
doctoral students as part of the National Mentorship
Programme (NMP).
Launch of the Virtual School App at the National
Doctoral Conference held on 2 and 3 November 2016.
South African BRICS Think Tank participation in the
Goa Academic Forum held in Goa (India) in September
2016.
20 collaborative projects funded through the BRICS
Programme.
Hosting by the NIHSS of the world-renowned
humanities scholar, Prof Ngũgĩ wa Thiong’o, on
2 March 2017, prior to his delivery of a series of
lectures at local universities. This positioned our brand
within South Africa and globally.
Honouring of HSS researchers and artists at the
second HSS Awards ceremony, held on 29 March 2017.
These awards recognise and celebrate individuals
and teams that continue to make a contribution to
knowledge production in the HSS, in categories such
as fiction; non-fiction; creative collections; and digital
contributions.
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1

Provide doctoral
scholarships for
postgraduate
students studying
in the humanities
and social sciences
in South Africa

Strategic
objective

To create six
doctoral schools
and award 900
scholarships by
March 2020

Objective
statement
Number of doctoral
schools operational
and strengthened that
will provide academic
support to NIHSSfunded doctoral
students
Increase in the number
of South African
doctoral students
funded by the NIHSS
in the humanities and
social sciences

Increase in the number
of non-South African
doctoral students
funded by the NIHSS
in the humanities and
social sciences

1.2

1.3

Key performance
indicator

1.1

No.

Table 1: Performance overview for the 2016/17 financial year

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES INTERVENTIONS

Target
6

450

111

Actual
2015/16
6

137 (255
cumulative)

32 (69
cumulative)

20 (89
cumulative)

126 (381
cumulative)

6

Actual
2016/17

-22

-69

0

Variance

-20%

-15%

0%

%
Variance

111 scholarships were
awarded and renewed
from previous years.
89 were taken up,
while only 22 have not
yet been signed up.

450 includes
new scholarships
awarded in 2016/17
and renewals. 381
scholarships were
taken up, while
69 students have
not taken up the
scholarships for
various reasons.

Target met.

Explanation/reasons
why the target was
not met
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2

Dynamise the
fields of research
and teaching in
the humanities
and social sciences
in South Africa
through a range of
Catalytic Research
Projects and
Humanities Hubs

Strategic
objective

To establish 39
Catalytic Research
Projects and 6
Humanities Hubs

Objective
statement
Number of Catalytic
Research Projects
focusing on
collaborative networks
with the aim of
revitalising key areas of
knowledge generation
and public discourse
that have lost impetus,
funded by the NIHSS
Number of Humanities
Hubs funded by the
NIHSS with the aim
of increasing funding
to civic organisations
working in the
humanities and social
sciences and building
and strengthening
collaborative networks
between civic
organisations and
the higher education
institutions
Number of research
outputs in the
humanities and social
sciences produced by
the Catalytic Research
Programme and
Humanities Hubs
projects leaders and
collaborators

2.2

2.3

Key performance
indicator

2.1

No.

13

New
indicator

14 (25
cumulative)

Actual
2015/16

45

5

39

Target

52

8

40

Actual
2016/17

7

3

1

Variance

15.6%

60%

2.6%

%
Variance

Target exceeded.
More research outputs
than expected were
produced. No adverse
effects on the budget.

Target exceeded. More
Humanities Hubs than
expected were funded
this year.

Target exceeded. An
additional project was
funded. No adverse
effects on the budget.

Explanation/reasons
why the target was
not met
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3

Promote
the integrity,
reputation and
recognition of the
humanities and
social sciences
within the higher
education
community,
the science
and technology
community, and
society at large

Strategic
objective

To establish
15 initiatives in
recognition of the
humanities and
social sciences in
South Africa

Objective
statement
Number of workshops
and conferences
organised by Catalytic
Research Programme/
Humanities Hubs
projects leaders and
collaborators
Number of Working
Groups initiatives
funded by the
NIHSS with the aim
of promoting the
integrity, reputation
and recognition of HSS
in the existing higher
education landscape
to make it more
responsive to, and
inclusive of HSS
Number of NIHSS
Annual Awards
ceremony held to
recognise individuals
within the higher
education community’s
contribution to HSS
Number of Professional
Associations in the
humanities and social
sciences funded by the
NIHSS

3.1

3.2

3.3

Key performance
indicator

2.4

No.

23

1

6

8 individual
Awards

3

16

11

7 (11
cumulative)

Target

Actual
2015/16

6

1

18

44

Actual
2016/17

0

0

-5

28

Variance

0%

0%

-13%

175%

%
Variance

Target met.

Target met.

Of the 24 Working
Groups initiatives
supported, 18 were
funded and five are
finalising their outputs
and therefore did not
require any funding.

Target exceeded. The
Institute supported
a high number of
workshops and
conferences during
2016/17. No adverse
effects on the budget.

Explanation/reasons
why the target was
not met
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4

Advance
postgraduate
scholarship
through a range
of innovations
and collaborative
supervision of
doctoral students

Strategic
objective

To appoint
professors
and establish
a national
mentorship
programme

Objective
statement
Number of mentors
appointed and funded
by the NIHSS to
enhance the creativity
and technical capacities
of NIHSS-funded
doctoral students
Number of regional
doctoral workshops
funded by the NIHSS to
enhance the creativity
and technical capacities
of NIHSS-funded
doctoral students
Number of national
doctoral workshops/
conferences funded
and hosted by
the NIHSS as an
innovation to advance
postgraduate
scholarship

4.2

4.3

Key performance
indicator

4.1

No.

Target
16

12

1

Actual
2015/16
14

4

New
indicator

1

22

21

Actual
2016/17

0

10

5

Variance

0%

83.3%

31.3%

%
Variance

Target met.

Target exceeded.
More regional
doctoral workshops
than planned were
hosted. No adverse
effects on the budget.

Target exceeded. No
adverse effects on the
budget.

Explanation/reasons
why the target was
not met
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5

Build and
strengthen
networks and
partnerships with
organisations
working in areas
related to the
humanities and
social sciences

Strategic
objective

To host or cohost 10 national
initiatives with
universities and
other institutions
related to the
humanities and
social sciences

Objective
statement
Number of
colloquiums/
conferences hosted
or co-hosted by the
NIHSS to create,
foster and maintain a
culture of collaborative
scholarship, research
and engagement in the
humanities and social
sciences
Number of dialogues
and bilateral meetings
hosted or co-hosted by
the NIHSS to build and
strengthen networks
and partnerships in
areas related to the
humanities and social
sciences
Number of
publications/joint
publications produced
by the NIHSSfunded research
projects leaders and
collaborators

5.2

5.3

Key performance
indicator

5.1

No.

3

2

0

4

2

1

Target

Actual
2015/16

2

4

6

Actual
2016/17

0

1

2

Variance

0%

33.3 %

50%

%
Variance

Target met.

Target exceeded.
More dialogues and
bilateral meetings
than expected were
hosted/co-hosted. No
adverse effects on the
budget.

Target exceeded.
More colloquiums
than expected were
hosted/co-hosted. No
adverse effects on the
budget.

Explanation/reasons
why the target was
not met
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6

Foster
international
research
collaborations
between South
Africa, the rest
of Africa, and
countries of the
Global South,
including Brazil,
India and China

Strategic
objective

To establish 10
international and
collaborative
research projects

Objective
statement
Number of international
collaborative research
projects funded
by the NIHSS to
promote the principle
of norm-driven
internationalisation
and collaboration
of institutions in the
Global South
BRICS and International
Mobility Grants

Number of seminars,
workshops and
conferences hosted/
co-hosted and funded
by the NIHSS to expand
the knowledge base of
Global South research
and scholarship in the
humanities and social
sciences

6.2

6.3

Key performance
indicator

6.1

No.

4

6

1

19

11

New
indicator

Target

Actual
2015/16

8

7

20

Actual
2016/17

2

3

2

Variance

33.3%

75%

10.5%

%
Variance

Target exceeded. The
programmes hosted/
co-hosted more
conferences than
expected. No adverse
effects on the budget.

Target exceeded.
More BRICS and
International Mobility
grants were awarded.
No adverse effects on
the budget.

Target exceeded.
More collaborative
research projects
than expected were
funded under the
BRICS Programme. No
adverse effects on the
budget.

Explanation/reasons
why the target was
not met
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7

Act as a dynamic
broker between
the worlds of
knowledge and
policy action on
behalf of South
Africa as the South
African BRICS
Think Tank

Strategic
objective

To establish
research clusters
– social, economic,
and political
clusters – as
related to BRICS
objectives

Objective
statement
Number of research
outputs produced
by the international
collaborative
project leaders and
collaborators to expand
the knowledge base of
Global South research
and scholarship in the
humanities and social
sciences
Number of BRICS
academic clusters
established and
operational
The establishment of
three South African
BRICS forums: i.e. BRICS
Civil Society Forum,
BRICS Business Forum
and BRICS Youth Forum
Number of policy
documents/briefs
emanating from SABTTfunded projects
Number of documents
produced that map
BRICS countries
research over the past
10 years
SABTT Academic Forum

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

Key performance
indicator

6.4

No.

4

1

New
indicator

New
indicator

1

3

New
indicator

1

5

6

4

New
indicator

Target

Actual
2015/16

1

3

4

2

5

8

Actual
2016/17

0

2

0

-1

0

2

Variance

0%

200%

0%

-33.3%

0%

33.3 %

%
Variance

Target met.

Target exceeded.
More documents
than expected were
produced. No adverse
effects on the budget.

Target met.

The BRICS Business
Forum was not
established during
the 2016/17 financial
year.

Target met.

Target exceeded.
More research
outputs than
expected were
produced. No adverse
effects on the budget.

Explanation/reasons
why the target was
not met
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8

Coordinate and
manage all BRICS
Think Tank-related
activities on behalf
of South Africa

Strategic
objective

Host, participate
and engage with
policy makers and
non-state actors
among the BRICS

Objective
statement
Coordination and
operationalisation of an
SABTT advisory council.
Number of policy
meetings with nongovernmental roleplayers
Number of intergovernmental cluster
meetings attended
BTTC Academic Forum
conference

8.2

8.3

8.4

Key performance
indicator

8.1

No.

4

New
indicator
1

4

New
indicator

New
indicator

2

Target

New
indicator

Actual
2015/16

1

4

5

2

Actual
2016/17

0

0

1

0

Variance

0%

0%

25%

0%

%
Variance

Target met.

Target met.

Target exceeded.
More meetings than
planned were held.
No adverse effects on
the budget.

Target met.

Explanation/reasons
why the target was
not met

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1:
PROVIDE DOCTORAL SCHOLARSHIPS FOR POSTGRADUATE STUDENTS STUDYING IN
THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES IN SOUTH AFRICA.
1.1 DOCTORAL SCHOLARSHIPS

African universities. Our aim is to create a generation of

For the past few years, the NIHSS has awarded

in the humanities and social sciences who focus their

scholarships to South African students registered for fulltime doctoral studies at national universities. An average
of 150 generous scholarships are awarded annually in
partnership with the South African Humanities Deans’
Association (SAHUDA) and are renewable, depending on
satisfactory progress, for a maximum of three years. The
aim is “to promote scholarship and address inequalities in
the humanities and social sciences”.
Other interventions, include:
•

Strengthening a student-centred culture in the

multinational African postgraduate students and scholars
research, teaching and writing on the parallels, continuities,
and differences in the cultures, social formations, histories,
knowledge systems, creativity and current experience of
the nations of Africa. The programme continues to receive
an overwhelming number of applications from prospective
students, with more than 300 applications received during
the reporting period. To date, 111 scholarships have been
awarded, with a take-up rate of more than 80% (89 of the
111 scholarships were taken up).

1.3 SAM MOYO POST-DOCTORAL
FELLOWSHIP

higher education system and helping to create an

•

•

environment where critical, analytical and normative

The Sam Moyo Post-Doctoral Fellowship in Land and

capacities are enhanced;

Agrarian Reform advances the development of scholarship

Ensuring collaborative supervision of doctoral students

in the area of land and agrarian reform in South Africa and

by two or more universities, including South African

on the continent by addressing gaps in this field while

universities collaborating with others beyond our

complementing teaching capacity on land and agrarian

borders; and

subject areas. The fellowship was launched in memory

Addressing inequities with regard to the demographic

of Professor Sam Moyo, former NIHSS Board member,

composition of PhD holders.

following his untimely death in November 2015. Prof
Moyo served as a steering committee member during the

By the end of the financial year under review (2016/17),

Institute’s early days, when it was still a Ministerial Special

a total of 450 NIHSS scholarships had been awarded to

Project conceptualising the future of the humanities in

South African students registered for a doctoral degree

South Africa and indeed for the diaspora. A passionate

in the field of humanities and social sciences at a public

champion of the humanities, he shared his vision and was

university. Of the 450 scholarships, which includes new

a pillar of academic strength.

awards and renewals, 381 scholarships were taken up (i.e.
students signed contracts), with 69 scholarships not taken

For the period under review, a call for applications was

up by students.

issued in February 2017. The scholarship will support fulltime research in the following broad areas: agrarian and

1.2 AFRICAN PATHWAYS PROGRAMME

land reform; rural livelihoods; food security and poverty
reduction; and the contribution of land and agrarian

As per a collaborative agreement between the NIHSS

reform policies and programmes to rural transformation

and the Council for the Development of Social Science

and the reduction of poverty in Africa. The Sam Moyo

Research in Africa (CODESRIA), scholarships are awarded

Post-Doctoral Fellowship is intended not only to keep

to non-South African students registered for doctoral

the memory of our special comrade and friend alive,

studies in the humanities and social sciences field at South

but certainly also to advance land and agrarian reform
scholarship on the continent.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 2:
DYNAMISE THE FIELDS OF RESEARCH AND TEACHING IN THE HUMANITIES AND
SOCIAL SCIENCES IN SOUTH AFRICA THROUGH A RANGE OF CATALYTIC RESEARCH
PROJECTS AND HUMANITIES HUBS.
2.1 CATALYTIC RESEARCH PROJECTS

RESEARCH OUTPUTS AND RESEARCH-RELATED
ACTIVITIES FOR 2016/17

Catalytic Research Projects form one of the core drivers
of the NIHSS mandate – that of enhancing and supporting

2016/17 was a busy and productive year for our project

the humanities and social sciences in South Africa and

leaders and collaborators, reporting a large number

beyond. The programme is based on the concept of

of research-related activities such as conferences,

collaborative research programmes founded on an

symposiums, workshops, colloquiums and dialogues.

existing knowledge base and expertise. Nineteen new

Most significantly, a total of 52 research outputs, including

Catalytic Research Projects were approved and supported

publication in peer-reviewed journals, books, conference

during the 2016/17 financial year. To date, the NIHSS has

papers and creative outputs, were reported (Figure 3).

provided funding for 40 projects, some of which were

Furthermore, academics attended and participated

completed during the reporting period.

in

important

research-enhancing

events

such

as

conferences, workshops, seminars, colloquiums and book
launches. Forty-four events were attended or hosted
during the reporting period.
Figure 3: Research outputs published from Catalytic

NIHSS CATALYTIC RESEARCH SYMPOSIUM

Research Projects, Humanities Hubs, and Working Groups
in 2015/16 and 2016/17.

The Institute hosted its first Catalytic Research Symposium
on 7 March 2017 with project leaders on site. Three books
were launched as part of this initiative: The Unresolved

15

National Question (Wits Press); Breaking Intergenerational
Cycles of Repetition (Barbara Budrich Publishers); and A

12

Working Life, Cruel beyond Belief (Jacana).
9

6

3

Journal
articles

Books &
Chapters

Newspaper
articles &
Reports

Papers
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Creative
outputs

0
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15
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9
Prof Pumla Gobodo-Madikizela at the launch of her
edited book Breaking Intergenerational Cycles of
Repetition at the NIHSS, 7 March 2017
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HIGHLIGHTS FROM FUNDED
PROJECTS INCLUDE:
HIDDEN VOICES: LEFT THOUGHT UNDER APARTHEID
(BY PROF EDWARD WEBSTER, WITS)
This project emerged out of an interest in left intellectual
contributions towards discussions on the struggle
for democracy and national liberation in South Africa.
Specifically, the idea is to look at the Hidden Voices that
addressed this question – academic voices suppressed
by apartheid pressures, and organic intellectual voices

The book:
A Working Life, Cruel
beyond Belief,
by Alfred
Temba Qabula

outside of the university system.
There are several aspects to the project, including a
training component. A portion of the grant was used to

The book:
The Unresolved National
Question, edited by
Edward Webster and
Karin Pampallis

support two Masters research interns. This is intended to
strengthen the NIHSS attempts to open up new avenues
for HSS scholarship, and to promote the development of

•

HSS research. It also fits with the Institute’s imperative
of ensuring equitable access, and providing equal and
appropriate life chances to students. The interns – Rosina
Mabapa and Nonkululeko Mabaso – chose to frame their
research around critical race theory, with a particular
focus on the nature of white privilege and white identity.
Nonkululeko Mabaso has been awarded a PhD scholarship
by the NIHSS. In addition, project leaders are mentoring
two Masters research interns: Noxolo Ntaka and Tsakane
Mahlaule began their internships in February 2017 and
are currently working on their research.
The second component of the project relates to the two
books that were published as a result of this project:
•

A Working Life, Cruel beyond Belief, by Alfred Temba
Qabula, is a reprint of a 1989 publication. It is an
example of how the Hidden Voices Project is bringing
the voices of organic intellectuals into the scholarly
mainstream. The book includes a new introduction,
by the Minister of Higher Education and Training, Dr
BE Nzimande, which relates the text to today’s South
Africa. Jacana Media has agreed to partner with
the team in producing a Hidden Voices Series, with
Qabula’s book as the first volume in the series.
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The Unresolved National Question, edited by Edward
Webster and Karin Pampallis, emanated from two
successful workshops, followed by a review and
revision process. The resulting collection of essays
examines the way in which various strands of left
thought have addressed the National Question, during
the apartheid years and into the present. The book’s
first section examines four foundational traditions:
Marxism-Leninism (as typified by Colonialism of a
Special Type), the Congress tradition, the Trotskyite
tradition and Africanism. The second part explores the
various shifts in this debate from the 1960s onwards,
and includes chapters on Afrikaner nationalism, Black
Consciousness, workerism, feminism, and the tension
between the foundational traditions of the National
Question and the Constitution of the Republic of South
Africa (1996). In this context, the book examines the
possible future of South Africa’s democracy.

PRE-1652 HISTORIOGRAPHY
(BY PROF LUNGISILE NTSEBEZA, UCT)
Prof Ntsebeza received NIHSS funding in 2013 to establish
a Catalytic Research Project on the pre-colonial history
of southern Africa, and attracted a range of scholars and
researchers to a conference held in March 2014 at UCT’s
Centre for African Studies, of which he is director and
holder of the AC Jordan Chair in African Studies. With Prof
Chris Saunders, he edited a 160-page volume based on
the proceedings of the conference. Titled the Rethinking
Africa Series, it was launched and published in 2014 by the
Centre for African Studies as Papers from the Pre-colonial
Catalytic Project – Volume 1.
The second, 352-page volume of the Rethinking Africa
Series has stories from the Karoo in the Northern Cape.
It was published at the end of 2016 as The Man Who
Cursed the Wind and Other Stories from the Karoo (African
Sun Press). It is the outcome of research undertaken
by Prof Simon Hall of UCT, and an Honorary Research
Associate in the Humanities Faculty (UCT) Dr José Manuel
de Prada-Samper. Both participated in the 2014 inaugural
conference of this catalytic project.
A follow-up conference was held at the Nelson Mandela
Metropolitan University in the Eastern Cape (in partnership
with the Centre for the Advancement of Non-racialism
and Democracy, or CANRAD) from 15–17 March 2017. It
focused particularly, though not exclusively, on research
about the Eastern Cape, an area conspicuous by its
absence in the two volumes published thus far.
The conference was an attempt to repair this imbalance,
drawing on the research done in partnership with Cala
University Students Association (CALUSA), a civil society
organisation directed by Centre for African Studies
(CAS) Honorary Research Associate Dr Fani Ncapayi. The
conference proceedings will feed into the publication of
another volume of the Rethinking Africa Series – possibly
Volume 3.

The book: The Man Who Cursed the Wind and Other
Stories from the Karoo, a second volume emanating
from the Rethinking Africa Series work
One of the stated strategic outcomes of the March
2014 catalytic conference on pre-colonial history is the
strengthening of school history and textbook writing, and
its resultant impact on curriculum transformation through
building research capacity via networks with civil society
organisations. History education forms an integral part of
CALUSA’s public education programme among youth.
Research conducted by CALUSA youth with CAS was a
highlight of the March 2017 workshop, as were strategies
for the development of learning materials, which will
translate and disseminate academic material in more
accessible forms to the relevant communities. The work
of pre-colonial history is now drawing significant interest
from colleagues in the Global South – see Re-Centring
Afro-Asia: Musical and Human Migrations in the Pre-Colonial
Period 700–1500 AD.
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PROF NGŨGĨ WA THIONG’O PUBLIC LECTURE SERIES
The distinguished Professor, Ngũgĩ wa Thiong’o, who
is considered the founding father of decolonialisation
discourse, was a guest of the Institute. Upon his arrival in
South Africa on 2 March 2017, the NIHSS team had the
privilege of being the first group to meet and interact with
the renowned humanities scholar. Doctoral students also
spent time with the professor, prior to his Wits lecture
titled “Secure the Base, Decolonise the Mind”, delivered in
the university’s Great Hall.
Prof Ngũgĩ wa Thiong’o was also hosted at the Baxter
Theatre by the University of Cape Town. The University of
Fort Hare closed the lecture series with a bang on 4 March
2017 in Port Elizabeth and East London.

“So along with the economic and political
empires, Europe simultaneously and
consciously created empires of the
mind through language ideologies and
practices, empires in tune with their world
view and practical needs. They gave us
their accents in exchange for their access
to our resources. Or let me put it this
way: Europe gave Africa the resources of
their accent; Africa gave Europe Access
to the Resources of the Continent.”
Prof Ngũgĩ wa Thiong’o
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Prof Ngũgĩ wa Thiong’o delivering a lecture at
Fort Hare on 4 March 2017

THE SOCIAL LIFE OF WASTE/ART

waste art is accruing much worth as it travels throughout

(BY DR DETLEV KRIGE, UP)

southern Africa.

The Social Life of Waste/Art (SLOWart) network is a collection

Collections of works from this project were exhibited at a

of artists, writers, facilitators, gardeners and researchers

number of venues: in Johannesburg’s Point Blank Gallery

based in southern Africa who work with discarded

Drill Hall and the MOAD (Museum of African Design) Gallery

materials and rubbish. The network creates works of art,

in Maboneng, as part of the 2016 Joburg Art Week; at

and documents emerging bodies of social practice, to

Kloppenheim Estate (Mpumalanga) as part of the 2015 My

increase knowledge and awareness of re-use, recycling and

Body My Space Festival; at the Brazilian Cultural Centre in

re-purposing. It functions as a platform for participating

Pretoria; and at the Fortaleza museum in Maputo. Traces of

community, research and artist organisations. Through a

the travels of this collection become part of the collection

series of conversations in the region in the form of facilitated

itself, as paperwork, border documents, and chips on

workshops in various cities, the network creates a space for

specific works contribute to the collection’s narrative.

learning new skills, and sharing technical and theoretical
knowledge, as well as creative outputs. Through a series

The network has funded several public activations,

of public activations and conversations, it also engages in

including the 2016 Waste Art Fair at the Drill Hall Precinct in

public dialogue, produces educational content, and shapes

Johannesburg. Project participants developed content for a

popular consciousness and policies.

documentary on waste art as well as the content and design
for an educational toolkit for learners. Several research

The network has hosted five regional workshops in each of

outcomes have been produced, including a Masters degree

the participating cities. It has developed a body of waste art

on the responses of waste pickers to the privatisation and

work consisting of sculptural, photographic, painting, video

formalisation of landfill sites in Tshwane. An edited book

and found objects. If, as some scholars have argued, value

collection on the nexus of art, waste and food across the

relates to the individual biographies of artists and narratives

region will be published in 2018.

of art works and collectives, then the travelling collection of

Advertisement posters for the SLOWart network project

“the network creates a space for learning new skills, and sharing technical and
theoretical knowledge, as well as creative outputs.”
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PATHWAYS INTO AND OUT OF STREET
LEVEL DRUG USE IN DURBAN
(BY PROF MONIQUE MARKS, DUT)
The project, titled “Pathways into and out of street level
drug use”, has various research and engagement outputs.
It is heavily transdisciplinary, bringing together scientists
from the humanities with those in medicine, as well as
practitioners in health, social development and policing.
Thus, it allows for a range of knowledges, expertise and
resources to make sense of drug use disorders in Durban,
and indeed in South Africa.
Shortly after the inception of this research endeavour,
DUT’s Urban Futures Centre, which is headed by Prof

Prof Monique Marks

Marks, facilitated a small symposium on drug use
disorders. Attendants included an Australian professor of
family medicine, Prof Nick Croft, and an Irish criminologist,
Prof Lucy Pickering. After much deliberation, researchers
formed the KZN Harm Reduction Advocacy Group. What
holds this network together is a shared commitment to
engaging in projects to reduce the harms associated with
drug use. The work is geared towards finding solutions
focused on supporting drug users, rather than punishing
them. Researchers recognise that most people who
have a drug use disorder (10% of those who use drugs)
have generally experienced high levels of trauma and
disconnection from family and community. Most are from
low-income communities. The use of drugs as a solution
to an existing problem is powerfully contested in societies
such as ours, where prohibition and abstinence are viewed
as the correct approach.
There have been a number of achievements since this
project was initiated. The team has already published two
articles in leading criminology journals on the policing of
illicit drug use. Another two articles in medical journals
link drug use and HIV prevalence. A book chapter on
the current legislative environment in South Africa with
regard to drug use, drug possession and drug markets is
due for publication in late 2017. A further three articles
are currently being written on various components of the
project.
At an engagement level, the outcomes have been
spectacular. A community theatre group, the Big
Brotherhood,

produced

a

powerful

new

theatre

production, Ulwembu (isiZulu for “spider web”), which has
been presented at numerous venues in Durban as well
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Scenes from Ulwembu theatre production

as at the Hillbrow Theatre in Johannesburg. More than

•

a play, Ulwembu is an immersive social learning tool that
brings together diverse citizens and civil servants into a

Land and Intellectual Heritage Hub (Hunterstoun
Centre, University of Fort Hare, Eastern Cape);

•

Community-based Memory Hub (University of Fort

transformative and transgressive empathetic space. It

Hare, Liberation Struggle History Archives, Eastern

was awarded best script, best director (Coppen), best lead

Cape);

actress (Mthombeni), best supporting actor (Ngubane)

•

and best newcomer (Ngcebo) at the 2017 Durban Theatre

and

Indigenous

Knowledge

Hub

(iSimangaliso Wetland Park Authority, KwaZulu-Natal);
•

Awards.

Ecosystems

Mapungubwe Cultural Hub (Mapungubwe National
Park and World Heritage Site, Limpopo); and

In August 2016, Durban joined 120 cities across the world

•

Origins Hub (Wits Origins Centre, Gauteng).

in the “Support Don’t Punish” campaign. Organised by the
Urban Futures Centre (DUT), it resulted in linking work

The Institute is currently exploring more hubs, namely

being done in Durban with similar harm-reduction work

Richtersveldt and Robben Island.

being conducted globally. The Urban Futures Centre and
the TB/HIV Care Association were given a Harm Reduction

One of the Liliesleaf Farm initiatives is the Schools

Networking Zone at the Aids Conference 2016. Placed

Educational Outreach Programme. During the reporting

within the Global Village, it provided a number of services

period (between April and June 2016), nine schools from

to delegates who use drugs. There were also various forms

the Gauteng province were invited to Liliesleaf Farm to

of knowledge sharing with the general public.

reinforce the importance of “history and memory” and in
so doing stimulate an interest in and understanding of the

2.2

HUMANITIES HUBS

The Humanities Hubs programme was introduced in 2015

importance of the humanities, and history in particular.
Learners visiting Liliesleaf Farm also had an opportunity to
meet and talk to Rivonia trialist Denis Goldberg.

as a “research-based programme, aiming to catalyse and
open up new avenues for scholarship in the humanities

Another main Humanities Hubs activity is the History

and social sciences and to assist in and promote the linking

and Memory Mobile Exhibition under the auspices of

of HSS with the broader public, outside of universities”. It

the Liliesleaf Farm project. Themed around the South

began with a single hub, awarded to the Liliesleaf Farm in

African liberation struggle, the Mobile Exhibition focuses

Gauteng during 2015, with the research themes “Memory

on the period between 1952 and 1966, which dramatically

and History”.

shaped the South African socio-political landscape. Four
universities – the University of South Africa (UNISA),

During the period under review, the NIHSS approved

University of Venda (UNIVEN), University of Limpopo (UL),

seven hubs, namely:

and University of Zululand (UZ) – partnered with Liliesleaf
Farm to host the exhibition during the reporting period.

•

Freedom and Humanity Hub (Freedom Park, Gauteng);

On 14 September 2016, UL hosted the exhibition and a

•

Migrant Workers’ Hub (Lwandle Museum, Western

seminar; while UNIVEN launched the exhibition during the

Cape);

annual Oral History Association of South Africa conference,
held from 12–14 October 2016.
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Learners during their visit to Liliesleaf Farm

Display of the History and Memory Mobile Exhibition at the University of Limpopo (14 September 2016)
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 3:
PROMOTE THE INTEGRITY, REPUTATION AND RECOGNITION OF THE HUMANITIES
AND SOCIAL SCIENCES WITHIN THE HIGHER EDUCATION COMMUNITY, THE SCIENCE
AND TECHNOLOGY COMMUNITY, AND SOCIETY AT LARGE.
3.1

HSS AWARDS 2017

On 29 March, the Institute hosted the Humanities and
Social Sciences: Book, Creative Collections and Digital
Contributions 2017 Awards. These celebrated outstanding
HSS scholars who are stimulating and contributing to
serious critical work while authentically telling South
African stories that are shaping new ways of knowing. The
Awards also re-position scholarly contributions as having
public value, and increase appreciation for the role they
play in building sustainable social cohesion and the reimagining of the humanities and social sciences.
The Institute believes much work needs to be done to
identify, support and promote new South African voices,
authors and stories in the humanities and social sciences.
New partnerships also need to be developed to prioritise
books and creative collections that promote African
languages.

Chair-Judge Joyce Myeza (Digital Contributions), with
winner Omar Badsha

Thirty-three judges reviewed submissions across various
categories for the period January 2014–December 2015.
These included 21 non-fiction books; 14 works of fiction;
14 creative collections; and three digital contributions.
From the respective categories, the winners are Book:
Non-Fiction Monograph: (joint winners) Declassified Moving beyond the dead-end of race in South Africa by
Maré, Gerhard (Jacana Media), and Regarding Muslims:
From slavery to post-apartheid by Baderoon, Gabeba
(Wits University Press); Book: Non-Fiction Edited Volume:
Changing Space, Changing City: Johannesburg after apartheid
by Harrison, Philip; Gotz, Graeme; Todes, Alison and Wray,
Chris (Wits University Press); Book: Fiction Single Authored
(Novel): What Will People Say? by Rossouw, Rehana
(Jacana Media); Book: Fiction Single Authored (Poetry): A
Half Century Thing by Rampolokeng, Lesego (Black Ghost
Books); Creative Collections: Best Public Performance:
BodyTech - The Ar(t)chive: co-founded by Denyschen,
Jessica and Sichel, Adrienne; Best Musical Composition:
Explorations: South African flute music by Stoltz, Liesl;
Best Visual Art: Penny Siopis: Time and again, edited and
co-edited by Olivier, Gerrit and Siopis, Penny; and Digital
Humanities Contributions: South African History Online
website by Badsha, Omar.

Chair-Judge Pumla Dineo Gqola (Fiction Panel), with
winner Lesego Rampolokeng

Chair-Judge Thembinkosi Goniwe (Creative Collections
Panel), with winner Penny Siopis – Best Visual Art
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The Humanities and Social Sciences: Book, Creative Collections and Digital Contributions
2017 Awards were judged by a panel of more than 30 reviewers under the leadership
of Chair-Judges Joyce Myeza, Thembinkosi Goniwe, Prof Shireen Hassim and Prof Pumla
Dineo Gqola. The following are the well-deserving winners:
Best Non-Fiction Monograph – joint winner
Declassified – Moving beyond the dead-end of race in South Africa
Author: Gerhard Maré
Publisher: Jacana Media
This book is undoubtedly one of the best to come out of South Africa in the post1994 period. It contributes to our body of knowledge in detailed and profound
ways, challenging existing ways of thinking about race as well as existing policies
about race. It provokes us to rethink the ideals of non-racism, in a context
where race thinking continues almost unabated in a democratic South Africa.
It is a tour de force of critical scholarship, encouraging us to be bold enough
to consider alternatives to the taken-for-granted assumptions about the
existence of races and the complexities around race-based discrimination and
(significantly) capitalist exploitation. It advances our understanding by linking
together a range of practices, policies and pieces of legislation and then places
them in the context of the everyday life of race, racism and race thinking. Maré
evokes an immediacy to the text by relating his own personal journey in race
consciousness. He asks very awkward questions about the enduring reality of
race and proposes a way out of our current impasse, with full recognition of just
how limited the scope is for such an alternative in the face of the overwhelming
reality of the casual acceptance of the very existence of races. But he does all
of this while not portraying a lazy “colour-blindedness”.
Best Non-Fiction Monograph – joint winner
Regarding Muslims: From slavery to post-apartheid
Author: Gabeba Baderoon
Publisher: Wits University Press
This is a timely, innovative and unique book since it looks at the intersecting
histories of slavery, Islam and the literary/visual tradition of the picturesque.
The author has picked topics as varied as cookbooks and poetry to show the
many different ways in which the presence of “Malays”/Muslims/“Coloureds” has
reflected the ambiguities of visibility vs invisibility. It is an excellent contribution
to the postcolonial literature on race, culture, religion and identity. Although
clearly influenced by the “linguistic turn” and by postcolonial theory, this book
is not overly “theoretical”, and its language invites readership and engagement.
The book is about both South Africa and the history of evasion and silence
regarding the presence of Muslims in the country’s founding. The arguments
are lucid and coherent throughout. The source material has been properly
interrogated. Writing and editing style are of good quality. Despite the very long
span of time that is dealt with in the book – well over 350 years – the author
succeeds in welding everything together in a convincing manner, thus bringing
her points across to the reader. It is very well-edited and the quality of writing
is excellent.
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Winner: Best Non-Fiction Edited Volume
Changing Space, Changing City: Johannesburg after apartheid
Edited by: Philip Harrison, Graeme Gotz, Alison Todes and Chris Wray
Publisher: Wits University Press
This book is an excellent intervention in debates about “cities of the South”. It
challenges many of the common assumptions about the city of Johannesburg
while at the same time offering readers more than just platitudes. In their
introductory essay, the editors are thorough in showing how their aim is to
balance the “materialist” and “subjectivist” literature on Johannesburg by
offering a nuanced articulation of both. The understanding that space shapes
identities and vice versa is one the best contributions to new knowledge that
this book makes. The arguments are supported by quantitative research and
databases and this is also a unique feature of the book – that is, it does not shy
away from combining statistics, graphs, mapping, photographs and tables in
making its arguments. The analysis elucidates the larger trends, while identifying
shifts that are not easily detected at the macro level. With empirical data
supported by new data sets, including the 2011 Census, the city’s Development
Planning and Urban Management Department’s information system, and
Gauteng City-Region Observatory’s substantial archive, the book is an essential
reference for planning practitioners, urban geographers, sociologists and social
anthropologists, among others.
Best Fiction Single Authored: Novel
What Will People Say?
Author: Rehana Rossouw
Publisher: Jacana Media
The plight of communities exposed to drugs and gangs in the depressed areas
of our nation is well known. This book throws light on the ordinary lives trapped
in such a world. How does a mother hope to raise her daughters so that they
escape the hardships of township life? And the sons, becoming members of a
gang or selling drugs or becoming addicts to drugs? Society cannot defeat what
it does not understand. The author presents us with an opportunity to not
only understand but, perhaps, grow to empathise with our kinsfolk so afflicted.
The content is well presented; the characters, unforgettable; and the language
pitch-perfect! This author knows the world she depicts; using one family as the
centrepiece of the story while the entire community is also involved is nothing
but masterly.
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Best Fiction Single Authored Volume: Poetry
A Half Century Thing
Author: Lesego Rampolokeng
Publisher: Black Ghost Books
The poems in the anthology are divided into seven movements, which
immediately evoke a sense of the epic, perhaps on a Wagnerian scale, or Mazisi
Kunene’s Athem of the Decades or Emperor Shaka the Great. And when one
starts reading it, the poems indeed rise up to the intensity and scale of an
epic. “Ulysses”. The foregrounding of anatomical imagery makes one avoid
swallowing for a while, until the poet releases the tension, only to pummel the
reader once again. It is when one comes to reading “Writing the Ungovernable”
that one finds security in having suspected that the French avant-garde style
and that of African political and literary heretics (Chinweizu, Marechera et al)
had some influence in the forging of the poetic sculptures that the poet has
carved, which defiantly utter sacrilege to, as in “speaking truth to power”.

Creative Collections:
Best Public Performance Best Dance
BodyTech
Co-founded by: Jessica Denyschen and Adrienne Sichel
Innovative use of media – the body – and new ways of articulating dance,
movement and technology. In the fields of art making, where participants
crossed over thresholds, integrating ideas in innovative ways, it appears that the
results were interesting for the varied audiences. BodyTech has demonstrated a
unique way of integrating various fields that is attractive to young or progressive
audiences. There is an element of promise of greater things. The work opens up
new conversations within the HSS field as it embraces elements of technology
and established dance movement that engages one in contemporary forms
of communication. Set in street spaces in Braamfontein, Johannesburg, where
control over one’s context is negligible, it is a work that is at once experimental
and tentative while crossing boundaries and anticipating possible technological
problems over which one seldom has control.
Best Musical Composition
Explorations: South African flute music (Liesl Stoltz, with François du Toit,
José Dias, Jacqueline Kerrod and Pieter van Zyl)
This production is very timely and specific, and possibly one of a few of its kind.
It presents modern flute art music by South African contemporary composers
and played by leading South African chamber musicians. Most outputs of this
nature tend to showcase the more “prestigious” instruments”, for want of a
better expression; like the violin or piano or even the symphony orchestra. Here,
the various abilities of the flute are explored and displayed with remarkable
success. In addition, this extensive presentation presents flute music in ways
that allow for further reflection and scholarly pursuit on the flute as a solo
instrument.
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Best Visual Art
Penny Siopis: Time and again
Co-edited by: Penny Siopis and Gerrit Olivier
This is a most welcome publication, which provides instructive theoretical
articulations on Penny Siopis’s work spanning more than three decades.
Articulated, engaged and contextualised are Siopis’s thematic ideas, scholarship,
and artistic innovations or discoveries, all demonstrating her contribution
to visual art practices within the field of humanities and social sciences. The
editor and contributors enrich the publication equally, illuminating and
complicating Siopis’s oeuvre, and in this way rendering the submission a
unique contribution, a creative and intellectual accomplishment deserving of
the award. The diverse visual artworks of the artist, and the essays featured in
the publication, demonstrate substantive and dynamic content. The quality of
Siopis’s work and that of the contributors’ essays confirms mastery, noting their
instructive articulation, insightful construction and coherent presentation. The
subject content and creative form are well treated, demonstrating an authority
over medium, materials and language. This submission is indicative of creative
intellectual work, with the potential to solicit response and instigate debate.
Best Digital Humanities Contributions
South African History Online
Omar Badsha
South African History Online (SAHO) is a non-partisan people’s history project. It was founded my Omar Badsha and
registered as a non-profit Section 21 organisation in June 2000.The organisation was founded to address the biased way
in which South Africa’s history and heritage, as well as that of Africa, is represented in the country’s educational, cultural
and heritage institutions. SAHO set out to write and promote a new history – through the building of a comprehensive,
online, popular history website, which is an open source platform – and to establish a multi-faceted and integrated
educational programme that serves to promote research, and to strengthen the teaching and learning of history and the
telling of the stories of ordinary people.
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3.2

WORKING GROUPS

Working Groups continue to be a strategic platform for
the Institute to encourage and support inter-disciplinary
research and collaborations among researchers in the
humanities and social sciences. Eighteen Working Groups
received funding during the 2016/17 financial year, and
they engaged in many activities while contributing to
overall research outputs. Activities and events funded by
the Institute during 2016/17 include: the Abantu Book
Festival; the 4th Annual Spring Law conference; and the

The major festival highlights were the following:
•

of more than 5 000.
•

Fifty-six high-calibre writers from as far afield as Liberia,
Nigeria, Kenya and the United States attended.

•

Of the 2 602 books on sale, 1 323 were sold (most of
them fiction).

•

On social media, the Abantu Book Festival was a top
trend for three days – a world first for a book event.

•

All Abantu Book Festival events (excluding musical
performances and screenings) had a sign language

publication of two books through the NIHSS collaboration
with the Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC).

All venues were fully subscribed, attracting an audience

interpreter, and all events were video recorded.
•

ABANTU BOOK FESTIVAL

The festival promotion video appeared 10 times daily
on TRACE TV channel, for the 10 days leading up to the
event – a South African first for book promotion.

The NIHSS awarded a grant to Thando Mgqolozana
towards the inaugural edition of the Abantu Book
Festival, held in Soweto on 6–10 December 2016, thereby
supporting black writers and readers. It was the first
literary festival organised in a black community for black
writers and readers. Twenty seminars, two workshops,
two poetry slams, eight film screenings and four musical
performances were held, to support the development
of literary skills and provide opportunities for the
celebration of artistic talent in South Africa. The NIHSS
grant enabled the Abantu Book Festival to invite 15 of 56
scholars and covered logistical support, such as transport,
accommodation, book purchases, marketing, subsistence,
and performance fees.

The Abantu Book Festival logo

Poster of speakers at the Abantu Book Festival in Soweto, 6–10 December 2016
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UNISA COLLEGE OF LAW 4TH ANNUAL SPRING
LAW CONFERENCE

The conference also focused on capacity building, with
a dedicated “track” proving a platform for students and
young academics to present their research projects and

Prof Rushiella Songca was awarded a grant towards

receive critical inputs from their academic peers and

hosting the UNISA College of Law’s 4th Annual Spring Law

superiors. The student track was a tremendous success,

conference, from 27–29 September 2016 at UNISA. The

despite the university space in the country having been

conference attracted a number of high-profile speakers

ferociously engulfed by the #FeesMustFall student

and delegates who engaged on a range of topics relating

protests at the time of the conference. Afterwards, most

to the overall theme. The topics were influenced by the

of the student presenters, particularly from UNISA, were

various disciplines from which the speakers and delegates

allocated mentors from UNISA College of Law to assist

were drawn.

them in developing their papers into academic articles
and possible book chapters.

Plenary speakers included:

NIHSS–HSRC BOOK PUBLICATION AGREEMENT
•
•
•
•
•

Dr Mosibudi Mangena (former Minister of Science and
Technology);

The NIHSS extended its collaboration with the HSRC to

Dr Aninka Classen (Director, Land and Accountability

include the joint publication of relevant books, through

Research Centre – University of Cape Town);

the HSRC Press. It publishes relevant and innovative

Prof Ben Cousins (Institute for Poverty, Land and

research-based books impacting on Africa and the world.

Agrarian Studies – University of the Western Cape);

They cover the humanities and social sciences and are

Prof Simphiwe Sesanti (Institute for African

peer-reviewed through an independent editorial board

Renaissance Studies – UNISA); and

to ensure the highest quality content, and world-class

Dr Motsoko Pheko (author, and former President of

research publications.

the Pan Africanist Congress).
The NIHSS partnership with HSRC Press is for one year
The conference papers presented offered perspectives

(December 2016–December 2017) and focuses specifically

on the land question, including: land as a factor in the

on generating innovative, relevant and distinctive new

alleviation of poverty, inequality and unemployment;

book projects. Two have already been published, namely:

communal land policies; and a feminist approach to land

Liberating Masculinities, and The Other Side of Freedom.

restitution. Other perspectives included: cultural/historical
factors in land reform; the essence of land in restoring
human dignity; agrarian reform; land dispossession/
redistribution policies; women and youth in land reform;
the political and constitutional analysis of land reform; and
the historical/colonial analysis of the land question.

The book: The Other

The book: Liberating

Side of Freedom,

Masculinities, published

published by the NIHSS

by the NIHSS in

in collaboration with the

collaboration with the

HSRC Press

HSRC Press
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3.3

PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATIONS

Table 2: Professional Associations that received support
from the NIHSS during 2016/17

During the reporting period, the NIHSS extended its
Professional Associations

support to professional associations in the HSS field (Table
2). This is to ensure that the higher education landscape is

Association of South African Social Work Education

more responsive to and inclusive of HSS and its disciplinary

Institutions (ASASWEI)

particularities. Professional associations are awarded

Association of Southern African Professional

funding towards the following activities:

Archaeologists (ASAPA)
Society of South African Geographers (SAAG)

•

Conferences/annual general meetings;

•

Workshops and seminars;

•

Publication of academic journals and special editions;

•

International collaborations; and

•

Student conference attendance and participation.
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South African Sociological Association (SASA)
Philosophical Society of Southern Africa (PSSA)
Historical Association of South Africa (HASA)
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4:
ADVANCE POSTGRADUATE AND UNDERGRADUATE SCHOLARSHIP THROUGH A RANGE
OF INNOVATIONS AND COLLABORATIVE SUPERVISION OF DOCTORAL STUDENTS.
4.1 NATIONAL MENTORSHIP
PROGRAMME
Our innovative National Mentorship Programme was
launched in July 2015 and is critical to the success of
the scholarships programme. The aim is to provide
high-quality academic mentoring to all NIHSS doctoral
students through targeted interventions offering a
communally based approach to doctoral support. NIHSS
scholarship recipients benefit from the programme.

Doctoral Schools mentors Prof Kishore Raga, Prof
Hendriek Kotze and Prof Fred Hendricks, with a

In addition to providing mentorship and the development

doctoral student at the Inter-regional workshop for

of research skills to doctoral students, mentors act

Eastern Cape and Western Cape regions

as coordinators for the programme’s virtual Doctoral
Schools across the country. In order to ensure effective
mentoring of students, the NIHSS organised a mentorship
training workshop on 31 May and 1 June 2016, facilitated
by Philip Marsh from the company Mentoring 4 Success.
The Institute also hosted a three-day doctoral writing-up
workshop on 1–3 June 2016 for 29 scholarship recipients
at the “writing-up” stage of their doctoral studies. This
contributed to our efforts to bolster relevant doctoral
academic skills and provide doctoral candidates with
much-needed time to write and reflect on their research.

Inter-regional workshops for the Eastern and Western
Cape regions

In 2016/17 the programme had 21 mentors, who
supported the six virtual Doctoral Schools: in the Eastern
Cape, Free State, UNISA (Gauteng), KwaZulu-Natal,
Northern Corridor and the Western Cape. In addition,
the Institute appointed three roving mentors: Prof
Fred Hendricks, Prof Nhlanhla Maake and Prof Keith
Breckenridge. They are not attached to any particular
university but “rove” among different universities as

4.1.1

NATIONAL DOCTORAL
CONFERENCE

On 2 and 3 November 2016, the NIHSS hosted its 2nd annual
National Doctoral Conference, at the Birchwood Hotel and
the OR Tambo Conference Centre. In partnership with

stipulated by the Institute.

SAHUDA and CODESRIA, the conference brought together

Twenty-two regional doctoral workshops were held

attendance represented 17 participating universities. Dr

during the reporting period and provided students with
an opportunity to interact face-to-face with their mentors
and get much-needed inputs on their work.

NIHSS-funded doctoral students. The doctoral students in
Bonginkosi Nzimande, the Minister of Higher Education
and Training, presented the keynote address. Also present
at the conference were representatives from SAHUDA,
the National Skills Fund (NSF), and CODESRIA, as well
as publishers and researchers from the broader HSS
community.
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A highlight of the conference was the piloting of the NIHSS

selected the winners, based on shortlisted submissions

Doctoral Schools App. The virtual platform will be key to

from mentors and session conveners. The winners:

further strengthening regional schools, and generating
live discussions and opportunities for networking as well

Best papers:

as collaborations among NIHSS-funded doctoral students.

•

The conference aimed to create and foster student-

•

Tebogo George Mahashe (UCT) – MaBareBare (1): An
invitation to Dream; and
Modjadji Linda Shirindi (UL) – Women perspectives on

centred approaches to doctoral research development,

culturally-based beliefs about hypertension: Lessons

while also:

for social work practice.

•

Providing a platform and opportunity for delegates to

Best poster:

present and showcase their research to fellow doctoral

•

candidates;
•

Mooniq Shaikjee (UWC) – The semiotics of mosque and
its impact on self-perceptions on the feminine body.

Offering a supportive environment for stimulating peer
feedback on each other’s work;

•

Facilitating networking and collaboration possibilities
among students working on similar projects, guided by
senior and leading academics in the country; and

•

Encouraging the formulation of collegial relationships
and communities of scholarship among NIHSS-funded
students.

The high-impact conference programme presented
multiple plenary sessions of 19 themes, based on students’
submitted abstracts and papers as well as seven themed
posters, organised into 57 parallel sessions. It allowed
the NIHSS to present a platform focused on best-practice
student-centred learning approaches and confirmed
for participants that they are engaging in research while
addressing key development, artistic and transformation
concerns that currently preoccupy us as a continent
and globally. The content of the presentations, dialogue

Tebogo Mahashe from UCT, winner of best paper
presentation at the 2016 National Doctoral
Conference

and debate over the course of the two days will, once
completed, published and used in university courses,
significantly contribute to the transformation agenda and
the drive for quality education relevant to South African
and greater African HSS perspectives.

PRIZE FOR BEST PAPER AND POSTER
SUBMISSIONS
The National Doctoral Conference prize for best paper
and poster submissions acknowledged doctoral students’
research that catalyses new avenues of knowledge
production, while providing insightful contributions to HSS
scholarship. The prize was open to all NIHSS scholarship
beneficiaries in their second and third funding years who
had submitted an abstract, conference paper or poster.
The NIHSS National Doctoral Conference committee
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Mooniq Shaikjee from UWC (left), the winner of
the best poster presentation, with Dr Nthabiseng
Motsemme (right), at the 2016 National Doctoral
Conference

The Minister of Higher Education and Training, Dr BE Nzimande, addressing conference delegates

Cheerful delegates at the 2016 National Doctoral Conference, held at the Birchwood Hotel and OR Tambo
Conference Centre on 2 and 3 November 2016

Annual Report 2016/17

43

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 5:
BUILD AND STRENGTHEN NETWORKS AND PARTNERSHIPS WITH ORGANISATIONS
WORKING IN AREAS RELATED TO THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES.
Over the years, the NIHSS has established networks and
strategic partnerships within academia as well as with
critical role players such as museums and independent
artists. During the reporting period, several engagements
were held with partners. The Institute hosted a dialogue
on 22 February 2017 on the theme “Liberation Struggle
Histories and Archival Practices”. The moderator was Dr
Geraldine Friesler from the South African History Archive,
and the event was attended by historians, artists, archival
practitioners and representatives of heritage sites.
The Inaugural Nelson Rolihlahla Mandela Reconciliation
seminar was held in partnership with UNISA’s History
Department on 18 July 2016, followed by a second seminar
at the same institution on 31 July 2016.

NIHSS CATALYTIC RESEARCH SYMPOSIUM
The Catalytic Research Projects programme held a
research symposium on 7 March 2017 at the NIHSS
offices. The aim was to bring together project leaders
participating in the programme, to provide them with a
platform for interacting with fellow HSS researchers, and
to explore ideas on new theories and methodologies
emerging in their fields. Participants shared highlights of
their studies, research findings and outputs and, in some
cases, the next steps in their projects.
The symposium highlight was the launch of a book
edited by Prof Pumla Gobodo-Madikizela titled Breaking

Intergenerational Cycles of Repetition: A global dialogue on
historical trauma and memory. This volume explores the
interconnected issues of intergenerational trauma and
traumatic memory in societies with a history of collective
violence, across the globe. Each chapter’s discussion
offers a critical reflection on historical trauma and its
repercussions, and how memory can be used as a basis
for dialogue and transformation. The perspectives include,
among others: the healing journeys of three generations
of a family of Holocaust survivors, and their dialogue with
third-generation German students over time; traumatic
memories of the British concentration camps in South
Africa; reparations and reconciliation in the context of the
historical trauma of Aboriginal Australians; and the use of
the arts as a strategy for dialogue and transformation.

COLLOQUIUM ON LIBERATION HISTORY,
MEMORY AND CONTESTATION
The Institute co-hosted a colloquium, themed “Liberation
History, Memory and Contestation”, in collaboration
with the Universities of Venda, South Africa, Zululand
and Limpopo from 15–17 March 2017. Held at the
Khoroni Hotel, Thohoyandou, the colloquium included
the following topics: theorising revolutions; freedoms
and history; biographies: echoes of the past; women
and the liberation struggles; and international solidarity
in liberation struggles. More than 50 presentations were
delivered at a gala dinner attended by senior university
officials.

Participants at the “Liberation History, Memory and Contestation” colloquium, held at the Khoroni Hotel
(Thohoyandou), 15–17 March 2017
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 6:
FOSTER INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH COLLABORATIONS BETWEEN SOUTH AFRICA,
THE REST OF AFRICA, AND COUNTRIES OF THE GLOBAL SOUTH, INCLUDING BRAZIL,
INDIA AND CHINA.
BRICS COLLABORATIVE RESEARCH

•

“Strategically Narrating a Joint Development Path”
– presented by Carolijn van Noort (14 July 2016);

The NIHSS supported 20 research projects between

•

– presented by Dr Gabriel Rached (1 March 2017); and

the rest of the BRICS countries during the reporting
period. The research projects are collaborative in

“New Challenges for Emerging Countries: An Overview
of BRICS and the International Institutional Framework”

South African researchers and their counterparts from
•

“BRICS Currency – Exploring the Use of a Common

nature, and academics jointly produce various types

Currency and/or Payment Mechanism” – presented by

of publications, including scientific journal articles and

Prof Ronney Ncwadi (9 March 2017).

edited books, within the broader HSS field. Eight papers
were published during the year under review, exceeding
the target of six.
Seven BRICS Teaching and Research Mobility Grants were
awarded under the African Pathways Programme (APP)
this year. The grant is short-term, a maximum of three
months, and is awarded for projects between South African
researchers and their counterparts from elsewhere on the
African continent.

NIHSS–CASS SINO-AFRICA CONFERENCE
The NIHSS organised an international conference between
the SABTT and the Chinese Academy of Science (CASS),
which was held on 8 and 9 June 2016 in Cape Town at the
UCT Business School of Leadership. Eleven presentations
were made by academics from China and six by South
Africans.
The South African presentations were:

NIHSS–HSRC SEMINAR SERIES
•

Prof Reckson Thakhathi (University of Fort Hare) –

The South African BRICS Think Tank (SABTT), in

“Good Governance and Effective Leadership as Pillars

collaboration with the Human Sciences Research Council

of Sound Economic Development”;

(HSRC) BRICS Research Centre, held a series of seminars

•

South Africa: Any Way forward?”;

between May 2016 and March 2017:
•
•

Dr Sibongile Tshabalala (University of Zululand) –
“Women Tourism Entrepreneurs in KwaZulu-Natal,

during the reporting period. The following took place

Prof Leila Patel (University of Johannesburg) –

“New Drivers of BRICS Economic Cooperation” –

“Social Welfare Policy in South Africa: Achievements,

presented by Prof Seeraj Mohamed (24 May 2016);

Challenges and Lessons Learnt”;
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•

Dr Maxwell Shamase (University of Zululand) –

NIHSS–IKS INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE

“Administering BRICS Social Systems: Opportunities
and Challenges”;
•

•

In September 2016, the NIHSS hosted an international

Dr Melanie Samson (University of the Witwatersrand)

conference in collaboration with the University of

“Co-governing

with

KwaZulu-Natal Centre for Indigenous Knowledge Systems

Informal Actors – Insights from Innovations in the

(CIKS). Held in Durban at the Moses Mabhida stadium

Environmental

Sustainability

Brazilian, Indian and South African Waste Management

from 13–15 September 2016, the conference strove to

Sector”; and

create knowledge and awareness of the role of Indigenous

Ms Hameda Deedat (National Labour and Economic

Knowledge Systems (IKS) in promoting sustainable food

Development Institute) – “BRICS Achieving Social

security and environmental governance for climate change

Governance in the Environment of Sustainable

adaptation in the BRICS member countries.

Development, Developmental Alternatives”.

Participants at the IKS conference in Durban, 13–15 September 2016
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 7:
ACT AS A DYNAMIC BROKER BETWEEN THE WORLDS OF KNOWLEDGE AND POLICY
ACTION ON BEHALF OF SOUTH AFRICA AS THE SOUTH AFRICAN BRICS THINK TANK.
BRICS RESEARCH CLUSTERS
The Institute awarded five BRICS Research Clusters during
the 2016/17 financial year. These were set in accordance
with the five thematic research areas as outlined in the
BRICS 2030 Long Term Strategy and are:
•

Promoting

BRICS

cooperation

and

alternative

economic development paths;
•

Social justice, sustainable development and quality of
life;

•

Peace and security;

•

Political and economic governance; and

•

Progress through knowledge sharing and innovation.

Prof Patrick Bond facilitating the meeting between
SABTT and civil society at the NIHSS, 23 March 2017

BRICS ENGAGEMENT
On 23 March 2017, the SABTT hosted the first BRICSrelated meeting involving civil society, a step towards
achieving its mandate of establishing two BRICS South
African forums: Civil BRICS and BRICS Youth. Prof Patrick
Bond from the University of the Witwatersrand convened
the meeting, which was attended by representatives of
BRICS Youth, Civil BRICS and trade unions. Pertinent issues
were discussed, including: the high level of exploitation of
workers by BRICS countries as well as the importance of
gender parity evident within BRICS structures.

Delegates at the SABTT and civil society meeting
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 8:
COORDINATE AND MANAGE ALL BRICS THINK TANK-RELATED ACTIVITIES ON BEHALF
OF SOUTH AFRICA.
ACADEMIC FORUM IN INDIA (GOA)

The following were the focus of discussions:

The NIHSS hosted a Pre-Forum on 24 August 2016 in

•

Opportunities and Challenges for BRICS in the

preparation for the Goa Academic Forum in India. Nine

Emerging Global Trade Architecture and the Potential

South African researchers who presented at the Pre-

for Intra-BRICS Trade Expansion;

forum formed part of the delegation to the Academic

•

•

and

Technology

Transfers

BRICS Partnership – Scripting a New Development
Paradigm;

Maart (University of KwaZulu-Natal); Prof Watson Ladzani
(University of South Africa); Dr Siphamandla Zondi (Institute

Finance

Development;

Josie (HSRC); Dr Aquina Thulare (Department of Health);
Dr Zakhele Shamase (University of Zululand); Prof Rozena

International

to Developing and Least-developed Countries for

Forum from 19–22 September 2016, namely: Dr Jaya

•

Common Health Challenges and Prospects for
Cooperation among BRICS;

for Global Studies); Prof Rasigan Maharajh (Tshwane
University of Technology); Dr Alex Tsela (independent);

•

Devising a BRICS-led SDG Voluntary National Review;

and Dr Buntu Siwisa (independent).

•

Regulating the New Commons and Related Global
Public Goods: A Vision from BRICS Perspective;

The NIHSS also funded Dr Zethu Cakata, a postdoctoral

•

BRICS Cooperation on Managing New Security Threats;

fellow from Statistics South Africa, to participate as

•

Future of Energy: Implications and Opportunities for
BRICS;

an observer. The NIHSS delegation consisted of John
Pampallis (Board member), Prof Godfrey Netswera

•

Leadership Vision from BRICS; and

(former Academic Director: BRICS), and Idah Makukule
(Programme Coordinator: BRICS).

Gender, Development and Politics – Towards a New

•

Micro, Small and Medium Size Enterprises, and the
Informal Sector – A BRICS Proposal for Growth.

The Academic Forum conference provided a platform for
debates and exchanges between academics from BRICS

The closing session, a roundtable discussion, focused on

countries. The NIHSS Board Chairperson, Prof Ari Sitas,

“the future of BRICS”. The range of questions included:

delivered an opening plenary on the topic, “Emerging Geo-

the rationale for (BRICS) expansion; the creation of new

political Order: Challenges and Opportunities for BRICS”.

institutions; and the vehicles for development (such as the
New Development Bank, or NDB) for bargaining as a group

The South African delegation to the India (Goa) Academic Forum, 19–22 September 2016
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in multilateral forums. A conference resolution document

“Enabling or Hindering the Quest for Global Justice? The

was developed on the last day of the conference, with full

BRICS in an Age of Multipolarity”.

participation by all BRICS countries.
Four of the papers presented at the Goa Academic Forum
were further developed into policy briefs:

Shaping a particular agenda requires positive story-

•

Energy Cooperation Dynamics in BRICS (by Dr Alex Tsela);

•

Common Health Challenges and Prospects for Cooperation
among BRICS (by Dr Aquina Thulare) (paper also
published in the BRICS Journal);

•

International
to

Developing

Finance
and

and

Technology

Least-developed

BRICS JOURNAL PARTNERSHIP PROMOTING A
PRO-BRICS AGENDA

Transfers

Countries

for

telling that is compelling. Our partnership with the BRICS
Journal, effective December 2016, is just that platform and
creates opportunities to tell the positives from the BRICS
partnership. BRICS Journal prides itself on offering clearly
focused content on economics, politics, arts and culture
across the BRICS countries.

Development (by Dr Maxwell Shamase); and
•

Informal Sector, Micro, Small and Medium-size Enterprise
Proposal for BRICS (by Prof Watson Ladzani).

BRICS THINK TANK COUNCIL
Following the Academic Forum, a meeting of the BRICS
Think Tank Council (BTTC) was held on 23 September
2016 in New Delhi and attended by an official delegation
comprising the Chair of the SABTT, Prof Ari Sitas, and
the Director of the NIHSS BRICS portfolio, Prof Godfrey
Netswera.

Two

government

representatives,

David

Malcomson (Department of International Relations and
Cooperation) and Simon Motlhanke (Department of
Higher Education and Training), attended as observers.

SABTT, IGD DEBATE TOPICAL ISSUES

IGD Executive Director Dr Philani Mthembu
(standing), Prof Siphamandla Zondi (left) and Prof
Godfrey Netswera (right) at the dialogue hosted by
the NIHSS (24 November 2016)

The SABTT in partnership with the Institute for Global
Dialogue (IGD) hosted a series of dialogues kicking
off on 10 November 2016 – themed “An Uneasy Coexistence?” and presented by Sanusha Naidu and
Francis Kornegay. This was followed by the dialogue on
the theme, “The United States–South African Chicken
War: Dumping or Protectionism?” held on 16 November
2016. The subsequent dialogue (held on 24 November
2016 and hosted at the NIHSS) focused on the theme of
“Re-Imagining South African Higher Education through
the Lenses of the Global South and BRICS”. The topic
attracted a number of academics and students, who
exchanged thoughts on the state of higher education.
Prof Siphamandla Zondi was the guest speaker, arguing
that “… South Africa needs a true diversity of thoughts to
benefit everyone, with a new generation of knowledge
production”. The final dialogue took place on 7 December
2016 at the Burgers Park Hotel, Pretoria, under the theme

Issue 3, BRICS Journal cover
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GOVERNANCE AT THE NIHSS

and not more than 10 ordinary members with voting
rights, at least three of whom must be appointed from
academic and management staff in the public higher

The NIHSS is governed by the Board appointed by the
Minister of Higher Education and Training in terms of the
PFMA Act (No. 29 of 1999). The Board is therefore a focal
point of governance and is committed to sound corporate
governance practices.

NIHSS BOARD AS ACCOUNTING
AUTHORITY
The Board provides the vision, strategic direction and
effective leadership required for the execution of our
mandate and long-term sustainability. These include
setting the strategy, policies and standards, and monitoring
their execution. During the period under review, the
Board continued to provide leadership and oversight in
terms of governance of the Institute, and ensured that the
following duties, inter alia, were executed:
•

Review of the NIHSS Strategy, Annual Performance
Plan and Budget for 2016/17;

•

Monitoring the implementation of the 2016/17 Annual
Performance Plan by reviewing the Institute’s quarterly
reports; and

•

Review of policies and governance frameworks.

The composition of the Board is guided by Regulation 4,
which provides for the Board to consist of the Chairperson

education institutions. Regulations also make provision
for the Board to co-opt not more than four experts in the
relevant fields, and for a period not exceeding its term of
office. As such, during the period under review, the Board
had two co-opted members. During the period under
review, the Board had two vacancies.

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEES
The Institute has the following governance committees in
place to advise the CEO in her duties:
•

Executive Committee;

•

Audit and Risk Committee;

•

Finance Committee;

•

Human Resource Committee;

•

Academic Committee; and

•

International Committee.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
This committee comprises the Chairperson of the Board
and the Chairpersons of the respective Board Committees.
Its role is to assist the Board in fulfilling oversight
responsibilities relating to governance and other strategic
matters of the Institute, including review of quarterly
performance and the adequacy and/or effectiveness of
the Board governance structures.

Table 3: Members of the Executive Committee, and meeting attendance

Name

No. of meetings

Position

Held

Attended

Chairperson

2

2

Prof Rosemary Moeketsi

Member

2

2

Prof Pamela Maseko

Member

2

2

Stephen Smith

Member

2

2

John Pampallis*

Member

2

1

Prof Ari Sitas

* Assumed membership on appointment as the Chairperson of the International Advisory Committee in January 2017
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

management and supply chain management processes,

The role of this committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling

management

including

its oversight responsibilities relating to financial reporting
and audit processes, the system of internal controls, and
the Institute’s compliance with applicable legislative and
governance frameworks. This includes an oversight role

financial

investments

(acquisition

and

and

infrastructure

maintenance).

The

committee met five times during the reporting period
(between June 2016 and March 2017).

HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE

on the governance risk and of technology and information.
The committee is chaired by an independent member,

This committee ensures that adequate Human Resource

and five meetings were held between June 2016 and

policies and strategies are in place, and monitors the

March 2017.

implementation of these policies and strategies in
accordance with set criteria and measures. Committee

FINANCE COMMITTEE

meetings were held on 27 June 2016 and 31 October
2016.

The Finance Committee assists the Board in fulfilling
its oversight responsibilities relating to sound financial
Table 4: Members of the Audit and Risk Committee, and meeting attendance

Name

Position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

Nokuthula Selamolela

Chairperson

5

4

Prof Rosemary Moeketsi

Member

5

4

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

Member

5

3

Note 1: Internal and External Auditors, the CEO and the Acting CFO had standing invitations to all meetings.
Note 2: Other urgent matters requiring the attention of the committee were dealt with via the round robin process, as and when required.

Table 5: Members of the Finance Committee, and meeting attendance

Name

Position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

Chairperson

5

5

Prof Ari Sitas

Member

5

2

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

Member

5

4

Prof Fiona Tregenna

Member

5

4

Ivor Baatjes

Member

5

5

Stephen Smith

Note 1: Other urgent matters requiring the attention of the committee were dealt with via the round robin process, as and when required.
Note 2: The name change from Finance and Procurement Committee to Finance Committee was approved by the Board in September 2016.
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Table 6: Members of the Human Resource Committee, and meeting attendance

Name

Position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

Chairperson

2

2

Luli Callinicos

Member

2

2

Alex Mashilo

Member

2

2

Prof Ari Sitas

Member

2

2

John Pampallis*

Member

2

2

-

-

Prof Rosemary Moeketsi

Dr Vukile Khumalo**

* Relinquished committee membership in January 2017, on accepting appointment as the Chairperson of the International Advisory Committee.
** Committee membership ceased on resignation from the Board in April 2016.

ACADEMIC COMMITTEE

INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE

The primary function of the Academic Committee is to

This committee provides oversight with regard to all the

advise the Board on matters related to the intellectual

international work of the Institute, including international

trajectories of the Doctoral Schools, Catalytic Research

collaborations and partnerships, as well as the Institute’s

Projects, Humanities Hubs, and the African Pathways

extended mandate related to BRICS. Only one committee

Programme. This committee also reviews the thematic and

meeting was held during the reporting period (on

policy guidelines for all calls for proposals and Doctoral

24 February 2017).

School applications. Committee meetings were held on 31
May 2016, 17 November 2016 and 27 January 2017.

Table 7: Members of the Academic Committee, and meeting attendance

Name

Position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

Chairperson

3

3

Prof Ari Sitas

Member

3

3

John Pampallis

Member

3

3

Prof Ahmed Bawa

Member

3

1

Ivor Baatjes

Member

3

1

Alex Mashilo

Member

3

0

Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize

Member

3

1

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

Member (CEO)

3

3

Prof Pamela Maseko
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Table 8: Members of the International Committee, and meeting attendance

Name

Position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

Chairperson

1

1

Prof Ari Sitas

Member

1

1

Prof Fiona Tregenna

Member

1

1

Luli Callinicos

Member

1

0

Prof Ahmed Bawa

Member

1

0

Member (CEO)

1

1

John Pampallis*

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

* Appointed Chairperson of the Committee in January 2017
Note: The name change from the International Advisory Committee to the International Committee was approved by the Board on 30 March 2017.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD
During the period under review, the NIHSS Board met seven times, with four scheduled Board meetings; one strategic
session; and two special meetings held. The number of meetings attended by each member is shown in Table 9.
Table 9: Board member meeting attendance during 2016/17

Name

Position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

Member

7

6

Chairperson

7

6

Member

7

7

Stephen Smith

Chairperson

7

4

John Pampallis

Member

7

6

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

Member

7

7

Prof Fiona Tregenna

Member

7

5

Prof Ahmed Bawa

Member

7

2

Alex Mashilo

Member

7

2

Luli Callinicos

Member

7

4

Ivor Baatjes

Member

7

3

Dr Vukile Khumalo*

Member

-

-

Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize

Ex-officio (President: SAHUDA)

7

4

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

Ex-officio (CEO)

7

7

Prof Ari Sitas
Prof Rosemary Moeketsi
Prof Pamela Maseko

* Resigned in April 2016

REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD
During the period under review, eligible Board members were remunerated and reimbursed for expenses incurred while
executing NIHSS-related activities. For the disclosure of Board fees and other related expenses, please refer to Note 18
of the Annual Financial Statements.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
The Institute has adopted an Enterprise-wide Risk Management Review (ERM) approach to ensure effective management
of risks in the Institute. During the period under review, an ERM review session was conducted in the last quarter of the
financial year, and resulted in the establishment of a comprehensive Risk Register for the Institute. The Risk Register
formed the basis for the development of a risk-based Internal Audit Plan. The implementation of the Risk Register/
mitigating measures (a summary of which is presented below), will be carried through the 2017/18 financial year. Table
10 presents a summary of the Strategic Risk Register, with the strategic risks linked to all Strategic Objectives.
Table 10: NIHSS Strategic Risk Register

Risk
number
1.

Risk
description
Lack of longterm financial
sustainability

Background to
the risk

Existing controls

Failure to identify •
and explore
•
other means of
gaining additional
funding to
allow the NIHSS
•
to meet its
objectives
•

Approved

Perceived
control
effectiveness

Actions to improve
management of the risk

Not effective

Strategic engagements
with the DHET at a senior
level
Indirect engagement with
NT Monthly management
reporting

APP NSF Cash
flows and
implementation
plan
Business
proposals to NSF
Engagement with
the DHET and NT

2.

Non-existence
of the NIHSS
through
a formal
registration
under a specific
body i.e.
Schedule 3A or
University type
entity

The NIHSS was
established by
the Minister
of Higher
Education under
Government
Gazette No.
37118

•

Weekly follow-ups
with the DHET

Not effective

Strategic engagements
with the DHET at a senior
level
Finalisation of the NIHSS
PFMA scheduling as a 3A
entity or a University type
entity
Indirect engagement with
NT
Monthly management
reporting

3.

Lack of
adequate IT
infrastructure
(Lack of
Integration of
systems)

Systems and
capacity

•

One IT officer

Satisfactory

•

Service provider in
place

•

Systems in place
(Sage Evolution,
Sage Payroll,
ESS, Praxis Grant
Management
System)

Improve IT infrastructure
(Lack of integration)
Increase in-house IT
capacity/dedicated hours
to NIHSS from service
providers

•

Information is

Satisfactory

Further customisation of

4.

Lack of accurate The NIHSS
financial and

is a new and

cross-checked

non-financial

developing

from one system

reporting

entity, therefore

to the other

due to non-

systems are

integration of

operated

systems

independently

the system
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Risk
number
5.

Risk
description

Background to
the risk

Existing controls
•

Perceived
control
effectiveness

Actions to improve
management of the risk

Satisfactory

Workshops and training

Staff failure to

Staff failure to

understand the

understand the

Plan, Annual

on Annual Performance

mandate and

mandate and

Performance Plan

Plan and values

values

values

in place

Aligning organisational

Mandate

culture to objectives

and values

Plotting the Annual

documented

Performance Plan with

•

Strategic

objectives
6.

Lack of

Inability to

Business

operate in

Continuity

case of natural

Management

disaster

•
•
•

(Business
Continuity Plan

•

and Disaster

Crisis Management Not effective

Draft and approve the

Policy

Business Continuity Plan

Crisis Management

Draft and approve the

Plan

Disaster Recovery Plan

Insurance for all

Source storage for

assets

documents (i.e. safe, cloud

Metrofile storage

storage)

Recovery Plan)
7.

Non-

Failure to achieve •

5 Year Strategic

achievement

mandate

Plan, Annual

report linking individual

Performance Plan

KPIs to Annual

Quarterly report

Performance Plan

and reviews

Effective M&E

(monitoring)

Follow-up and tracking

of strategic
•

objectives

Satisfactory

Monthly management

progress on Annual
Performance Plan
8.

9.

•

Failure to

Under-

align current

capacitated

organisational

portfolios

•

HR Policies

staff

Capacity to

•

HR Board

complement

current Annual

•

Sub-committee

with strategic

Performance

•

Flexible structure

objectives

Plan

Inadequate

Reputational

Stakeholder

stakeholder

risk due to non-

Management Policy

Better use of

management

management of

Stakeholder Matrix

communication channels

Approved

Satisfactory

Organogram

Development of the HR
Strategy and Plans

(cross-functional)
Good

Stakeholder circulars

stakeholders (e.g.

Better planning to allow

students, Deans,

for stakeholder reviews

suppliers and

Annual Perception Surveys

funders)

for stakeholders (i.e. staff,
students, suppliers)
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Risk
number
10.

Risk
description

Background to
the risk

NSFAS
handover not
done effectively

The NIHSSNSFAS handover
is currently
taking place.
The feasibility of
transferring the
administrative
and payment
functions to the
NIHSS has been
established and
the necessary
approvals
obtained. The
NIHSS must
ensure that it
puts in place on
the necessary
systems and
human resources
to ensure that
the handover is
smooth.

Existing controls
•

Grant
management
system and
process flow
documents

•

Disbursement of
funds systems

•

Handover plan
document
approved by
Board

•

Progress reporting
to the CEOs

Perceived
control
effectiveness
Satisfactory

Actions to improve
management of the risk
Setting up integrated
online grant management
system and grant process
flow that includes the preaward to claiming stages.
Need setting up and
staffing of clear core
functions, which
include: documents
receiving function; online
recording of scholarship
data function; quality
assurance function; claims
processing function;
preparation of payment
function; and reporting
functions.
Recruitment of additional
staff with identified grant
management skills.
Handing over of data and
investment in staff and
systems development in
IT.

INTERNAL CONTROL

committees; the formal establishment of the internal

The NIHSS categorises internal controls into two

audit function is aimed at providing assistance in the

audit function; and the approval of policies. The internal

components:

assessment of significant organisational risks and the

•

Basic internal controls; and

provides the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board

•

Training of employees on internal controls in the
execution of their day-to-day activities.

Basic internal controls are further categorised into the

review of the adequacy of internal control systems, and
with assurance regarding the adequacy and effectiveness
of internal financial controls and systems. It is the primary
independent assurance provider on the adequacy and
effectiveness of NIHSS governance, risk management and

following elements:

control structures, systems and processes.

•

Prevention controls;

The function operates in terms of a formal mandate, in full

•

Detection controls; and

•

Segregation of duties.

Key controls are assessed for adequacy and effectiveness
by internal auditors. The Board ensured that the
required governance structures and frameworks were
in place, including but not limited to the relevant Board

conformance with the International Professional Practices
Framework for Internal Audit (Standards) and with leading
risk-based and integrated methodology.
During the period under review, the internal audit
function was formally established and outsourced to
an independent firm, Outsourced Risk and Compliance
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Assessment (ORCA). ORCA’s mandate is supported by

•

Performance Information;

unrestricted access to the Chairperson of the Audit

•

Finance;

and Risk Committee and the Board. The Audit and Risk

•

Fixed Assets; and

Committee has, during the period under review, approved

•

Governance.

the three-year Coverage Plan, including the Annual Audit
Plan, which was reviewed by the internal audit function.

The results of the noted audits have been discussed with

The results of the internal audit reviews provided an

management and appropriate action plans developed to

independent and objective assurance to management,

mitigate the risks.

the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board regarding the
adequacy and effectiveness of systems of internal control,

EXTERNAL AUDIT

risk management and governance. Where weaknesses
were identified, the Audit and Risk Committee ensured

The Auditor-General South Africa (AGSA) is the external

that management took appropriate action.

auditor and has an approved Audit Strategy. AGSA is
responsible for independently auditing and reporting on

ORCA have the following responsibilities, among others:

the NIHSS Annual Financial Statements and performance
information in accordance with auditing standards and

•

Implement the Annual Internal Audit Plan for the first
year of the Strategic Rolling Three Year Internal Audit
Plan, as approved, including as appropriate any special
tasks or projects requested by the Audit and Risk

the External Audit Strategy.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Committee and executive management;
•

•

•

Provide a professional internal audit capability with

The Board has established governance structures and

sufficient knowledge, skills and experience to meet the

frameworks to assist the Institute’s compliance with

requirements of the NIHSS;

legislation and regulatory requirements, and corporate

Evaluate and assess significant merging as well

governance best practices. To the extent possible, the

as consolidating functions and new or changing

Institute complied with applicable laws and regulatory

services, processes, operations and control processes

frameworks during the period under review; and where

coincident with their development, implementation,

instances of non-compliance were detected and/or

and/or expansion;

observed, corrective measures were implemented.

Keep the Audit and Risk Committee and the authority
informed of emerging trends and successful practices
in internal auditing; and

•

FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

Assist in the investigation of significant suspected

The NIHSS is committed to ethical behaviour and to the

fraudulent activities within the organisation, and notify

prevention, detection and reporting of fraud in terms of

management and the Audit and Risk Committee of the

a zero-tolerance approach. As such, a Fraud Prevention

findings.

Plan was developed and approved by the Board on 30
March 2017. It applies to any fraud, or suspected fraud,

The audits performed for the 2016/17 financial year, and

involving

the evidence obtained indicated that the processes and

vendors, contractors, outside agencies and/or any other

related system of internal controls, in the areas reviewed,

parties in a business relationship with the NIHSS.

Board

members,

employees,

consultants,

require improvements to provide reasonable assurance
that the NIHSS goals and objectives, in the areas reviewed,

The Fraud Prevention Plan highlights the roles and

will be achieved efficiently and effectively.

responsibilities of the Board and of different categories of
staff members regarding fraud prevention. It also provides

Below is the summary of internal audit activities conducted

internal mechanisms for the detection and reporting of

during this financial year:

fraudulent activities through the relevant governance
structures and the regulatory bodies. As such, fraudulent

•

Risk Management Review;

•

activities (if any) get reported through the internal

Supply Chain Management Review;

mechanisms. In the reporting period, one case of fraud
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by an employee was detected, investigated and reported
to the relevant governance structures and regulatory

collaboration, teamwork, creativity and respect;
•

authorities. Details of this case are contained in Note 24 of

sign an SBD04 Form, whereby they declare any conflict

the Annual Financial Statements.

MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

All suppliers conducting business with the NIHSS must
of interest they may have in the procurement; and

•

All SCM officials, Bid Specification, Bid Evaluation and
Bid Adjudication members are required to sign a
declaration of interest form for all tenders undertaken

The following processes have been implemented in an

by the Institute.

effort to reduce conflict of interest that may arise within
the Supply Chain Management (SCM) portfolio:

During the period under review, there were no instances
of conflict of Interest declared. Should any cases be

•

All employees joining the NIHSS are inducted on the

declared in future, the individual will not participate in the

Code of Conduct and the values of integrity, excellence,

procurement process concerned.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND
ADMINISTRATION

invited to train in project management, presentations, and
public speaking skills. All executive and senior managers
have been placed on executive coaching for two years,
ending January 2019. Two senior managers attended the

One of the most important components of the NIHSS is
its people. Effective people development, recruitment and
management are critical to our ability to deliver on the
NIHSS mandate and strategy. The HR function is to ensure
that the Institute has the required number of qualified
people aligned to the overall vision and mission.

STAFF RECRUITMENT AND
TURNOVER

King IV conference during the reporting period and seven
bursaries were paid out for staff members to further their
studies.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND
SAFETY (OHS)
Occupational Health and Safety compliance is important
for the health and safety of the workforce, and the Institute
is no exception. In the year under review, we ensured the

In the year under review, the NIHSS renewed its contract
with recruitment agency Mindworx for a further two years,
in order to continue recruiting talented individuals with
the required competencies. Fourteen new staff members
were recruited – an increase of 38% from 2015/16, when
the Institute grew from 24 to 33 permanent staff members,
with four contract workers. The overall staff turnover was
13% (five permanent staff members resigned).

STAFF TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

following OHS compliance:
•

Servicing of emergency equipment;

•

Purchasing of an emergency evacuation chair;

•

Training of the OHS Committee in first aid, basic
firefighting and operating new equipment;

•

OHS signage updated;

•

Fire drill conducted; and

•

Mounting of OHS Act in common areas.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM

Fundamental to the current and future success of the
NIHSS is an ongoing commitment to improving the
execution and effective management of a set of basic HR
processes and tools. In the year under review, all staff were

In the year under review, performance agreements were
developed for all staff members. A mid-year performance
review was conducted, as well as probation reviews.

HR OVERSIGHT STATISTICS
Table 11: 2016/17 Personnel cost per salary band

Level

2015/16
amount

2016/17
amount

% of personnel exp.
to total personnel
cost (2016/17)

Average cost
per employee
(2016/17)

No. of
employees
(2016/17)

Top management

4 963 417

6 691 089.85

33.47%

5

1 338 217.97

Senior management

1 044 002

4 436 650.80

22.19%

5

887 330.16

Professionally qualified
Skilled, technical and
academically qualified
Semi-skilled
Unskilled
Total

527 975

3 887 703.33

19.44%

8

485 962.92

3 641 368

4 619 294.94

23.11%

18

256 627.50

305 021

227 401.62

1.14%

1

227 401.62

79 756

128 989.46

0.65%

1

128 989.46

10 561 539

19 991 130

100%

38

526 082.36
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Table 12: 2016/17 Staff training expenditure

Programme

Total
expenditure

2015/16
training
expenditure

2016/17
training
expenditure

Training
expenditure
as % of total
expenditure

No. of
employees
(2016/17)

Average cost
per employee

Staff training

19 991 130

21 510

266 762

1.3%

35

7 621.77

Table 13: Employment and vacancies as at 31 March 2017
2016/17 approved

2016/17 no. of

2016/17

posts

employees

vacancies

Top management

6

4

2

50%

Senior management

5

5

0

0%

Professionally qualified

10

8

2

25%

Skilled

15

14

1

7%

Semi-skilled

1

1

0

0%

Unskilled

1

1

0

0%

Total

38

33

5

15%

Level

% of vacancies

Table 14: Employment changes during 2016/17 (permanent staff)

Level

Employment at
31/03/2016

Appointments

Terminations

Employment at
31/03/2017

Top management

4

1

2

3

Senior management

3

2

-

5

Professionally qualified

0

3

2

6

Skilled

10

8

1

17

Semi-skilled

2

0

-

1

Unskilled

1

0

-

1

Total

20

14

5

33

Table 15: Reasons for employee turnover for the 2016/17 financial year
Reasons

Employment at 31/03/2015

Employment at 31/03/2016

Appointments in 2016/17

Dismissals

1

1

25%

Resignations

1

4

75%

Total

2

5

100%

Table 16: Labour relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action
Nature of disciplinary action

Number (2015/16)

Number (2016/17)

Verbal warning

1

0

Written warning

1

0

Final written warning

1

2

Dismissals

1

1

Total

4

3
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EQUITY TARGET AND EMPLOYMENT EQUITY STATUS
The 2016/17 overall race profile of the Institute comprised 97% African and 3% coloured employees (Figure 4). There
were no Indian or white employees during the reporting period. The gender profile for the year under review was 62%
females and 38% males, a slight increase in the proportion of male employees (Figure 5).
Figure 4: Overall race profile of NIHSS staff (2014/15–2016/17)
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Figure 5: Overall gender profile of NIHSS staff (2014/15–2016/17)
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OUR KEY STAKEHOLDER
RELATIONSHIPS

STAKEHOLDER VALUE ANALYSIS
The main stakeholders/beneficiaries of the NIHSS include

The NIHSS has, over the past few years, established strong

doctoral students, and researchers in the HSS fields

relationships with stakeholders who are key in assisting

participating in the Catalytic Research Projects, Working

the Institute to achieve its mandate. For the most part,

Groups, and Humanities Hubs, and in international

the NIHSS plays a supportive role, while stakeholders

collaborative research projects. Individuals who serve

such as researchers and students are at the forefront of

as mentors for the National Mentorship Programme are

“delivering” on the mandate and established goals.

also our primary stakeholders, as are the Professional
Associations receiving support from the Institute. A list of

Everything we do as the Institute is therefore based on

our main stakeholders is provided in Table 17, together

the spirit of cooperation and collaboration with our

with the expected deliverables per stakeholder.

stakeholders.
Table 17: NIHSS deliverables per stakeholder group
Stakeholder

NIHSS deliverable(s)

South African doctoral students

•

Increased funding for HSS doctoral students.

APP students

•

Increase in the number of non-South African doctoral students funded by the
NIHSS in the HSS.

Mentors

•

Communities of scholarship established through mentorship and offering
a communally based approach to doctoral support through targeted
interventions, which enhance the creativity and technical capacities of
doctoral graduates.

CODESRIA

•

Collaborate in African Pathways Programme application for funding process
(by screening applications and through panel review).

•

Policy frameworks developed for joint degrees within SADC and the broader
continent.

•

An open and dynamic process created, through which African scholars
cooperate, collaborate and assist each other (to reflect on the past, present
and future of this continent).

Department of Higher Education

•

Comprehensive reporting at agreed levels.

and Training (DHET)

•

Performance monitoring in terms of the NIHSS mandate.

•

Provision of policy advice in matters related to HSS.

•

Advise the Minister of Higher Education and Training and government on
HSS-related matters.

•

Increased and guided academic discourse about the crucial social issues that
face us as South African citizens (in order to help influence the character of
the South African community and to create a more humane, responsible and
just society).

Doctoral Schools

•

Number of doctoral schools established and operational, providing a platform
for academic support to NIHSS-funded doctoral students.

NIHSS employees

•

Favourable working conditions.

•

Support for students enrolled for study.

•

Support for research project leaders participating in various NIHSS
programmes.
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Stakeholder

NIHSS deliverable(s)

Funders

•

Higher education institutions

•

Funding of research through Catalytic Research Projects.

(HEIs)

•

Administering of NIHSS scholarships and research funding through HEIs’

Potential partnerships on ad hoc projects in line with agreed-upon servicelevel agreement.

internal financial processes.
•

Resources provided for better support for postgraduate students.

•

Provision of increased funding encouraged for PhD and Masters students.

NSFAS

•

Compliance with procedures preceding the disbursement of funds in line with

National Skills Fund (NSF)

•

Funding of HSS PhD students.

•

Funding of NIHSS research.

•

Collaboration in Doctoral Schools Programme application screening through

the NIHSS mandate.

Partnering NGOs

panel review.
•

Potential partnership on ad hoc projects in line with agreed-upon servicelevel agreement.

South African citizens

•

Being socially responsive.

•

Helping to address the socio-economic challenges facing South Africa and her
citizens.

•

Advising civil society on HSS-related matters; and increasing and guiding
public discourse about the crucial social issues that face us as citizens, in
order to help build a better South Africa for all citizens.

BRICS partner countries

•

Department of International

•

SABTT engagement with other official Think Tanks from the BRICS countries
through the BTT.

Relations and Cooperation

A close working relationship maintained by SABTT with government to align
SABTT with government policy.

(DIRCO)
BRICS Think Tank Council

•

Coordination and management by SABTT of all BTCC-related activities (the
BTTC is a network of five official Think Tanks from the BRICS countries).

South African Parliament
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•

Provision of sound and independent policy advice.
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the

Outsourced Risk Assessment (ORCA). Although the

Committee complied with its responsibilities, as contained

appointment of the Internal Auditors was only finalised

in the Charter that regulates the Committee’s mandate.

in the last quarter of the financial year; a risk-based

Audit and Risk Committee Membership and
Attendance of Meetings
The composition of the Committee and the attendance of
meetings during the period under review are listed under
the Governance Section of the Annual Report, page 52.

Audit and Risk Committee’s Responsibilities
The main responsibilities of the Committee, as outlined in
the Committee’s Charter include amongst others:
•
•

•
•

Review the appropriateness of and compliance with

Three-Year Rolling the Internal Audit Plan was reviewed
and approved; and some audit work done before the
Committee guided the Internal Auditors in the preparation
and implementation of the Annual Audit Plan and ensured
that the Internal Audit Plan was risk-based, taking the
NIHSS’ risk profile into consideration. The Committee
reviewed the reports from both Internal and External
Auditors and is satisfied that overall, the systems of
internal control for the period under review were effective.

Review and Monitoring of Performance
Information

accounting policies;

The Committee reviewed the actual performance of the

Through the internal auditors, review the adequacy and

NIHSS against the strategic objectives and targets set in the

effectiveness of policies and procedures applicable to

Annual Performance Plan for 2016/17; and was satisfied

NIHSS, and whether they are complied with;

with the content and quality of the quarterly performance

A review of the financial management processes and

reports prepared and issued by the Chief Executive Officer

the adequacy of internal controls;

(CEO) and the acting Chief Financial Officer (CFO) during

A review of the Annual Financial Statements, the

the year under review. Where required, the Committee

Annual Report and related regulatory filings before

made recommendations for enhancements of the reports.

these are released, in order to consider the accuracy

Evaluation of the Annual Financial Statements

and completeness of the information;
•

The governance of risk;

•

The

•
•

governance

of

Information

Communication

The Committee reviewed and discussed the unaudited

Technology (ICT);

Annual Financial Statements to be included in the Draft

Overseeing the internal and external audit functions

Annual Report in consultation with the CEO, the Internal

and related audit processes;

Auditors and the Auditor General on 19 May 2017. These

A review of the Institute’s compliance with applicable

were subsequently recommended for Board approval on

legislative requirements and governance frameworks;

26 May 2017.

and
•

Ensuring that all the disclosures and/or reporting

The Committee further reviewed the audited Annual

requirements to the Board, the Executive Authority,

Financial Statements on 24 July 2017, in consultation with

the National Treasury and the Auditor-General are

Management, the internal and external auditors.

adhered to.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control

Summary of main activities undertaken by the
Committee during the period under review

The Institute has approved Policies and/Frameworks to

The Audit and Risk Committee attended to the following

guide the implementation of effective and efficient internal

matters:

controls and procedures on an ongoing process.

•

The quarterly review of performance (Financial Report)
against the 2016/17 budget; and a review of the annual

The Internal Audit function was formerly established

budget for 2017/18 financial year for the Board’s

through the appointment of the Internal Auditors,

consideration and approval;
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT (CONTINUES)
•
•
•

The review of the Committee’s Charter subsequently

However, a review of the data integrity assessment was done

approved by the Board;

by Rakoma & Associates to enable the efficient takeover of

The review of the External Audit Strategy and Fees,

the NIHSS SAHUDA student disbursement function by the

subsequently approved by the Board;

Institute from NSFAS. The objective of the review was to:

The appointment of internal auditors; and the approval

•

of the Internal Audit Three-Year Rolling Plan and
•

•

Ensure completeness of students’ records; and

The review of Institute’s risk profile resulting in the

•

Check various data errors as well as make corrections

the implementation of which will continuously be
monitored into the 2017/18 financial year; and

•

student records;

associated audit fees;
development of the Strategic Risk Register; and

•

Assess various data sources at NIHSS relating to

to ensure the data is accurate.

Fraud

A review of the unaudited Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2017 in May 2017 and

It came to the attention of the Committee and the Board

the review of the audited Annual Financial Statements

that allegations of fraud had been detected and addressed

in July 2017;

by Management in the last quarter of the financial year.  As at

Keeping the Board informed of key issues within the

the end of the financial year, i.e. 31 March 2017, to the date

Committee’s scope; with Committee Reports submitted

of this Report the matter had not been finalised. As advised,

and presented at all Board meetings.

Management reported that the incident was reported to
the relevant authorities, including the opening of a criminal

Internal Audit

case against the implicated individual and former employee.
Remedial recommendations, arising from the investigations

The internal audit function is outsourced to outsourced

referred to above, will be implemented, where applicable,

Risk and Compliance Assessment (ORCA); and the

once the investigations have been concluded and the

appointment of the Internal Auditors was finalised in the

associated Reports obtained.

last quarter of the 2016/17 financial year. The Internal
Auditors reported that they had executed all the activities

Conclusion

expected of them in terms of the Internal Audit Plan for
the reporting period; and concluded that the evidence

Subsequent to the audit of financial statements, performance

obtained indicated that the processes and related system

information and compliance with legislation, we can report

of internal controls, in the areas reviewed, are reasonably

that the systems of internal control for the 2016/17 financial

adequate, and effective to provide reasonable assurance

year were effective and efficient; there were no significant

that the NIHSS goals and objectives, in the areas reviewed,

deficiencies in internal controls identified.

will be achieved efficiently and effectively. The results of
the audits have been discussed with management and
appropriate action plans developed to mitigate the risks.

Date the Audit and Risk Committee
recommended AFS be approved

External Audit

The Committee recommended the approval of the audited

The external audit was performed by the Auditor General

27 July 2017 for submission thereof to the Department of

of South Africa. The Auditor General has issued an

Higher Education and Training; the Accountant General

unqualified audit opinion for the 2016/17 financial year.

(National Treasury) and the Auditor-General.

annual financial statements at the Board meeting held on

Other Audits
No other audits were performed other than the external
audit the Auditor General and internal audit by Outsourced

Ms Nokuthula Selamolela

Risk and Compliance Assessment.

Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
Date: 24 July 2017
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REPORT
I am proud to present the financial report of the NIHSS and
note that, indeed, the NIHSS is taking its rightful position
in reigniting and dynamising the humanities and social
sciences. Great strides continue to be made through the
NIHSS (SAHUDA collaboration) scholarship to grow the
HSS within the South African borders, while our CODESRIA
partnership supports the scholarship within the continent,
through the African Pathways Programme. The Institute
continues to play a significant role as the custodian of the
South African BRICS Think Tank (SABTT).
The achievements for the period under review were
made possible through the funding received from the
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) and
the National Skills Fund (NSF). The funding was received as
follow during the 2016/17 financial year:
•

Tumelo Mokoena, CA (SA), Acting CFO
A total of R25 081 000 was received from the DHET to
fund our operational requirements as the NIHSS. This
amount was recognised as revenue in full.

•

A total of R133 165 470 was received from the NSF
to fund projects and programmes. Of this amount,
R119 381 430 was recognised as revenue with

Funds received to date
R120 000 000
R100 000 000

contractual obligations having been met during
the financial year. The difference of R13 784 040
was deferred and will be recognised as and when
contractual obligations are met.
•

Interest income of R3 977 391 was received from
investments and bank accounts.

The total revenue recognised for the 2016/17 financial
year was R148 447 294 which represents a growth of 82%
from the previous year. This exceptional growth could
only be attributed to the timeous receipt of funds from
the DHET and NSF.
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REPORT (CONTINUES)
The timeous receipt of funds has enabled the Institute to

beginning of the academic year. This created a delay in

deliver on its Annual Performance targets and Strategic

disbursements of funds to students. However, through

Objectives. The funds were disbursed as follows:

various interventions, the funds were eventually

NIHSS SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAMME

disbursed and students resumed their studies.
•

For the first time in the history of the NIHSS, the
Finance and Supply Chain Management Divisions,

A total of R55 387 200 was disbursed to 411 NIHSS-funded

which had historically been outsourced to a service

PhD fellows within the South African public universities.

provider, were brought in-house. The functions were

This represents an increase in disbursement of 90.5%

performed internally for the entire financial year.

from the previous financial year.

Operational challenges related to setting up of financial
systems, policies and procedures were experienced

A total of R10 704 000 was disbursed to 91 non-South

at implementation. However, over time, these were

African doctoral students funded through CODESRIA. This

adequately

resulting

in

operational

efficiency.

represents an increase in disbursement of 37% from the
previous financial year.

addressed,

•

The contract with a service provider for the provision of
Grant Management and Disbursement services came

Other significant projects supported during the period

to an end on 31 March 2017. For the next financial

under review are:

year, this will be done internally. The necessary
resources and planning have been secured to ensure

•

was funded resulting in an increase of 20% from the
•

a successful transition.

Catalytic Research Projects – a total of R9 971 580
•

A budget cut of R235 954 from the operating budget

previous year;

was experienced during the financial year. This further

Humanities Hubs – a total of R7 931 519 was committed

serves as a reminder of the need to prioritise on

for support, totalling an increase of 391% from the

endeavours to save costs.

previous year;
•

•

BRICS Think Tank – a total of R6 058 445 was funded,

Looking forward, we take cognisance of the tight fiscal

reflecting a growth of 556% from the previous year;

regime within National Treasury and commit to allocating

and

financial resources wisely and prudently.

The National Doctoral Conference – a total of R2 423
218 was committed for this initiative, with its aim being

I would like to thank the Department of Higher Education

to create and foster student-centred approaches to

and Training, Minister Dr Bonginkosi Nzimande, and the

doctoral research development, while also providing

National Skills Fund for the impeccable support during the

students with a platform and opportunity to present

financial year. Further gratitude goes to our students and

and showcase their research with fellow doctoral

stakeholders, without whom we would not exist.

candidates.
Overall, the total project expenditure increased by 102%
thus enabling the Institute to deliver on its mandate. This
is a key milestone as it shows the growth of the NIHSS and
progress made in reaching out to our stakeholders.

OPERATIONAL CHALLENGES
EXPERIENCED
•

Tumelo Mokoena, CA (SA)
Acting Chief Financial Officer

During the financial year, unrest at South African
universities relating to fees disrupted operations at the
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL
THE REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL
TO THE MINISTER OF THE DEPARTMENT
OF HIGHER EDUCATION AND TRAINING
ON THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR THE
HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Responsibilities of the board
6. The board is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of
the Higher Education Act of South Africa, 1997 (Act No.
101 of 1997) and for such internal control as the board
determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Opinion
1. I have audited the financial statements of the National

7. In preparing the financial statements, the board is

Institute for the Humanities and Social Sciences set

responsible for assessing the National Institute for

out on pages 76 to 120, which comprise the statement

the Humanities and Social Sciences’ ability to continue

of financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters

statement of financial performance, statement of

relating to going concern and using the going concern

changes in net assets, cash flow statement and

basis of accounting unless the board either intends to

statement of comparison of budget and actual

liquidate the Institute or to cease operations, or has no

amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes

realistic alternative but to do so.

to the financial statements, including a summary of
Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the

significant accounting policies.
2. In my opinion, the financial statements present

financial statements

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position

8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance

of the National Institute for the Humanities and

about whether the financial statements as a whole

Social Sciences as at 31 March 2017, and its financial

are free from material misstatement, whether due

performance and cash flows for the year then ended in

to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report

accordance with South African Standards of Generally

that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance

Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee

GRAP) and the requirements of the Higher Education

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will

Act of South Africa, 1997 (Act No. 101 of 1997).

always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,

Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the
International

Standards

on

Auditing

(ISAs).

My

responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for
the audit of financial statements section of my report.
4. I am independent of the Institute in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional
accountants (IESBA code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to my audit in South
Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the
IESBA code.
5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.
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they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
9. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements is included in the annexure
to the auditor’s report.

Report on the audit of the annual performance
report
Introduction and scope
10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South
Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general
notice issued in terms thereof I have a responsibility
to

report

material

findings

on

the

reported

performance information against predetermined

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL (CONTINUES)
objectives for selected objectives presented in the

to planned performance strategies and information in

annual performance report. I performed procedures

respect of future periods that may be included as part

to identify findings but not to gather evidence to

of the reported performance information. Accordingly,

express assurance.

my findings do not extend to these matters.

11. My procedures address the reported performance

12. I evaluated the reliability of the reported performance

information, which must be based on the approved

information in accordance with the criteria developed

performance planning documents of the Institute.

from the performance management and reporting

I

have

not

evaluated

and

framework, as defined in the general notice, for the

indicators

following selected objectives presented in the annual

included in the planning documents. My procedures

performance report of the Institute for the year ended

did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating

31 March 2017:

appropriateness

of

the

the

completeness

performance

Pages in the annual

Objectives

performance report

Objective 1 – Provide doctoral scholarships for postgraduate students studying in the

16

humanities and social sciences in South Africa
Objective 2 – Dynamise the fields of research and teaching in the humanities and social
sciences in South Africa through a range of Catalytic Research Projects and Humanities Hubs

17-18

Objective 3 – Promote the integrity, reputation and recognition of the humanities and social
sciences within the higher education community, the science and technology community,

18

and society at large
Objective 4 – Advance postgraduate scholarship through a range of innovations and

19

collaborative supervision of doctoral students
Objective 5 – Build and strengthen networks and partnerships with organisations working in

20

areas related to the humanities and social sciences
Objective 6 – Foster international research Collaborations between South Africa, the rest of
Africa, and countries of the Global South, including Brazil, India and China

21-22

Objective 7 – Act as a dynamic broker between the worlds of knowledge and policy action

22

on behalf of South Africa as the South African BRICS Think Tank
Objective 8 – Coordinate and manage all BRICS Think Tank related activities on behalf of

23

South Africa

13. I performed procedures to assess the reliability of

Objective 3: Promote the integrity, reputation and

the reported performance information to determine

recognition of the humanities and social sciences

whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

within the higher education community, the science

14. I did not identify any material findings on the reliability

and technology community, and society at large

of the reported performance information for the

Objective 4: Advance

following objectives:

through a range of innovations and collaborative

Objective 1: Provide

doctoral

scholarships

for

postgraduate

scholarship

supervision of doctoral students

postgraduate students studying in the humanities and

Objective 5: Build and strengthen networks and

social sciences in South Africa

partnerships with organisations working in areas

Objective 2: Dynamise the fields of research and

related to the humanities and social sciences

teaching in the humanities and social sciences in South

Objective 6: Foster

Africa through a range of Catalytic Research Projects

Collaborations between South Africa, the rest of Africa,

and Humanities Hubs

and countries of the Global South, including Brazil,

international

research

India and China
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL (CONTINUES)
Objective 7: Act as a dynamic broker between the

Other information

worlds of knowledge and policy action on behalf of
South Africa as the South African BRICS Think Tank

20. The National Institute for the Humanities and Social

Objective 8: Coordinate and manage all BRICS Think

Sciences board is responsible for the other information.

Tank related activities on behalf of South Africa

The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report. The other information

Other matters

does not include the financial statements, the

15. I draw attention to the matters below.

auditor’s report thereon and those selected objectives
presented in the annual performance report that have

16. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 16

been specifically reported on in the auditor’s report.

to 23 for information on the achievement of planned

21. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on

targets for the year and explanations provided for the

the reported performance information and compliance

under and overachievements of a number of targets.

with legislation do not cover the other information
and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

Adjustment of material misstatements
17. I identified material misstatements in the annual

22. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read

performance report submitted for auditing. These

the other information and, in doing so, consider whether

material

reported

the other information is materially inconsistent with

performance information of Objective 1: Provide

the financial statements and the selected objectives

doctoral scholarships for postgraduate students

presented in the annual performance report, or my

studying in the humanities and social sciences in South

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears

Africa, Objective 3: Promote the integrity, reputation

to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have

and recognition of the humanities and social sciences

performed on the other information obtained prior to

within the higher education community, the science

the date of this auditor’s report, I conclude that there is

and technology community, and society at large, and

a material misstatement of this other information, I am

Objective 7: Act as dynamic broker between the worlds

required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in

of knowledge and policy action on behalf of South Africa

this regard.

misstatements

were

on

the

as the South African BRICS Think Tank. As management
subsequently corrected the misstatements, I did not
raise any material findings on the reliability of the
reported performance information.

Report on audit of compliance with legislation

Internal control deficiencies
23. I considered internal control relevant to my audit
of the financial statements, reported performance
information and compliance with applicable legislation;
however, my objective was not to express any form of

Introduction and scope

assurance thereon. I did not identify any significant

18. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice

deficiencies in internal control.

issued in terms thereof I have a responsibility to report
material findings on the compliance of the Institute
with specific matters in key legislation. I performed
procedures to identify findings but not to gather

Pretoria

evidence to express assurance.

31 July 2017

19. I did not identify any instances of material noncompliance with selected specific requirements of
applicable legislation, as set out in the Higher Education
Act of South Africa, 1997 (Act No. 101 of 1997).
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL (CONTINUES)
ANNEXURE – AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT
1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements, and the procedures performed on reported performance
information for selected objectives and on the Institute’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in the auditor’s report, I also:
•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Institute’s internal control.

•

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Board.

•

conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the National Institute for the Humanities
and Social Sciences ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am
required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements about the
material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the financial statements.
My conclusions are based on the information available to me at the date of the auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause an Institute to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Communication with those charged with governance
3. I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.
4. I also confirm to the Board that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my
independence and here applicable, related safeguards.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2017
Figures is Rands

Notes

2017

2016

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

4

6 648 691

5 289 664

Intangible assets

5

1 165 567

101 576

7 814 258

5 391 240

38 458

48 747

Current assets
Inventories
Prepayments

6

230 076

459 022

Receivables from exchange transactions

7

359 394

697 942

Receivables from non-exchange transactions

7

15 983 885

40 848 471

Cash and cash equivalents

8

100 953 806

51 318 392

117 565 619

93 372 574

125 379 877

98 763 814

10

68 937

-

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

9

5 592 817

1 782 925

Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions

9

107 018 388

73 371 312

963 432

-

338 761

100 173

Total assets
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Finance lease liability
Current liabilities

Provisions

9.1

Operating lease liability
Short-term portion of finance lease liability

10

113 252

-

Cash and cash equivalents.

8.1

69 489

-

114 165 076

75 254 410

Net assets

11 214 801

23 509 404

Reserves

11 214 801

23 509 404

Net assets

11 214 801

23 509 404

Total liabilities
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Figures is Rands

Notes

2017

2016

3 977 391

399 537

7 474

-

3 984 865

399 537

Government funding

144 462 429

82 936 339

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions

144 462 429

82 936 339

11

148 447 294

83 335 876

Employee-related costs

12

19 991 130

10 561 539

Depreciation and amortisation

4.5

1 894 772

692 350

2 730 341

2 253 997

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Investment revenue
Other Income
Total revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue

Total revenue
Expenditure

Rent and utilities (lease rental)
Project expenses

13

119 381 430

59 114 131

General expenses

14

9 988 215

3 633 848

153 985 888

76 255 865

Total expenditure
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets and liabilities
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year
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(5 538 594)

7 080 011

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Figures is Rands

Note

2017

2016

172 980 572

120 807 823

3 923 696

355 971

176 904 268

121 163 794

Project expenses

(95 505 139)

(30 044 131)

Compensation of employees and Board members

(19 068 276)

(10 412 412)

(8 617 543)

(26 757 268)

(123 190 958)

(67 213 811)

16

53 713 310

53 949 983

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

4

(3 115 127)

(5 646 353)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

4

-

-

Purchase of other intangible assets

5

(1 214 447)

(160 167)

(4 329 574)

(5 806 520)

182 189

-

182 189

-

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

49 565 925

48 143 463

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

51 318 392

3 174 929

100 884 317

51 318 392

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Government funding
Interest income

15

Payments

Payments to suppliers
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from finance lease

10

Net cash flows from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

8
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Figures is Rands
Balance at 01 April 2015
Net surplus for the year ended 31 March 2016

Reserves
16 429 393
7 080 011

Balance at 31 March 2016

23 509 404

Balance at 1 April 2016

23 509 404

Net surplus for the year ended 31 March 2017

(5 538 594)

Adjustment to retained earnings 31 March 2017

(6 756 009)

Balance at 31 March 2017

11 214 801
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
Approved
Figures is Rands

budget

Actual

Variance

Notes

3 170 000

3 977 391

807 391

-

7 474

7 474

3 170 000

3 984 865

814 865

25 081 000

25 081 000

-

21

128 236 760

119 381 429

(8 855 331)

21

153 317 760

144 462 429

(8 855 331)

156 487 760

148 447 294

(8 040 466)

21 898 102

19 991 130

1 906 972

21

310 000

1 894 772

(1 584 772)

21

2 640 000

2 730 341

(90 341)

21

124 660 760

119 381 430

5 279 330

21

6 978 898

9 988 215

(3 009 317)

21

Total expenditure

156 487 760

153 985 888

2 501 872

Operating surplus

-

(5 538 594)

(5 538 594)

Gain on disposal of assets and liabilities

-

-

-

Surplus for the year

-

(5 538 594)

(5 538 594)

Statement of Financial Performance
Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Investment revenue
Other income
Total revenue from exchange transactions

21

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
Government funding - operations
Government funding - projects
Total revenue from non-exchange
transactions
Total revenue
Expenditure
Employee-related costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Rent and utilities (lease rental on operating lease)
Project expenses
General expenses
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with, and comply with, effective Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting
Standards Board. The implementation of new GRAP standards has not resulted in any change in accounting policy.
These financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical
cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise.
A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these
financial statements, is presented below.

1.1 PRESENTATION CURRENCY
These financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the NIHSS.

1.2 GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION
These financial statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the NIHSS will continue to operate as a
going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as
part of that equipment.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
-

It is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the NIHSS;
and

-

The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated
residual value.
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:
Item 						Average useful life		Depreciation rates
Office furniture and fittings

9-11 years

9%-11%

Office equipment

4-6 years

16%-25%

Computer equipment 				2-4 years			25%-50%
Leasehold improvements 				
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33%

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
An assessment is done at the end of each reporting period of whether there is any indication that the entity’s expectations
about the residual values and the useful lives of assets have changed since the preceding reporting period. If any such
indication exists, the expected useful lives and/or residual values are revised accordingly.
The NIHSS derecognises its item of property, plant and equipment and/or significant part of an asset upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits or service potential can be derived from the asset.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in the surplus or
deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable service
amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount (i.e. impairment losses are recognised).
Expenditure incurred on assets to repair and maintain them are disclosed separately in the Notes to the Financial
Statements.
Impairment of assets
Impairment is the loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset over and above the systematic
recognition of the loss through depreciation or amortisation.
Assets are annually assessed, by considering internal and external factors where there is an indication of impairment.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated at the higher of fair value less cost to sell
and its value in use.
Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable service amount.

1.4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
An intangible asset is initially measured at cost.
An intangible asset is recognised when:
-

It is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset
will flow to the NIHSS; and

-

The cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.		

Intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
The useful lives of intangible assets have been assessed as follows:
Item 						Useful life		Depreciation rate
Computer software 				2-4 years		50%-100%
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
An assessment is done at the end of each reporting period of whether there is any indication that the entity’s expectations
about the residual values and the useful lives of intangible assets have changed since the preceding reporting period. If
any such indication exists, the expected useful lives and/or residual values are revised accordingly.
The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is recognised in  
the surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.
Where the carrying amount of an intangible asset is greater than its estimated recoverable service amount, it is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount (i.e. impairment losses are recognised).

1.5 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual
interest of another entity.
Initial recognition
The NIHSS recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when the entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Initial measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value plus, in case of a financial asset or financial liability
not subsequently measured at fair value, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial instrument.
1.5.1 Financial assets
All financial assets of the NIHSS are categorised as cash and cash equivalents, and receivables. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at amortised cost, which, due to their short-term nature, closely approximates their
fair value.
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. These financial assets are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each year end.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. For
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Derecognition
A financial asset shall be derecognised when the NIHSS realises the contractual rights to benefits specified in the contract,
the rights expire and the NIHSS surrenders those rights, or the NIHSS loses control of the contractual rights that comprise
a financial asset.
On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the sum of the proceeds received
shall be recognised in the net surplus or deficit for the period.
1.5.2 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include trade and other payables from exchange transactions. All financial liabilities of the NIHSS are
classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
liabilities and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an
effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled, or expires. On
derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the amount paid is included in the
net surplus or deficit for the period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset if there is any intention to either settle on a net basis, or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously and a legally enforceable right to set off exists.

1.6 TAX
					
No provision has been made for taxation, as the NIHSS is exempt from income tax in terms of Section 10 of the Income
Tax Act, 1962 (No. 58 of 1962).							

1.7 LEASES
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Finance lease refers to a contract that transfers the risks, rewards, rights and obligations incidental to ownership to the
lessee and is recorded as a purchase of propery, plant and equipment by means of long-term borrowing. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (leases other than finance leases) are charged to the statement of financial
performance on a straight line basis over the period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease
period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the
period in which termination takes place.
1.7.1 Finance leases - lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability.
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the
remaining balance of the liability.
1.7.2 Operating leases - lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term. The difference
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments is recognised as an operating lease asset
or liability.

1.8 INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of consumables on hand at the reporting date and are measured at cost. An individual inventory item
whose cost does not exceed R1 000 is recognised, on acquisition, in the surplus or deficit. Inventories are subsequently
measured at the lower of cost and net replacement value.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The cost of employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service.
Employee entitlements are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.
Termination benefits are recognised and expensed only when the payment is made.
Liabilities for annual leave are recognised as they accrue to employees. The NIHSS recognises the leave obligation during
the vesting period based on the best available estimate of the accumulated leave expected to vest. The liability is based
on the total amount of leave days due to employees at year end and also on the total remuneration package of the
employee. The leave liability is recognised as an accrual.
No provision has been made for retirement benefits as the NIHSS does not provide for retirement benefits for its
employees.
			

1.10 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES
Provisions are recognised when the NIHSS has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits or service potential will be required or can be made to settle
the obligation.
Provisions are measured as management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the
reporting date and are discounted to present value where the amount of the provision is material.
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of an uncertain future event not wholly within the control of the NIHSS. Contingent liabilities are not recognised but
are disclosed in the notes to these financial statements, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits or service potential is remote.

1.11 REVENUE
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the NIHSS and these benefits can be
measured reliably.
1.11.1 Revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits or service
potential will flow to the NIHSS and these benefits can be measured reliably. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable.
Interest income is accrued on a time proportionate basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and effective
interest rate over the period to maturity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.11.2 Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Non-exchange revenue transactions result in resources being received by the NIHSS, usually in accordance with a binding
arrangement.
When the NIHSS receives resources as a result of a non-exchange transaction, it recognises an asset and revenue in the
period that the arrangement becomes binding and when it is probable that the NIHSS will receive economic benefits or
service potential and it can make a reliable measure of the resources transferred.				
Where the resources transferred to the NIHSS are subject to the fulfilment of specific conditions, it recognises an asset and
a corresponding liability. As and when the conditions are fulfilled, the liability is reduced and revenue is recognised.
The asset and the corresponding revenue are measured on the basis of the fair value of the asset on initial recognition.
The following sources of receipts are considered revenue from non-exchange transactions:
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) - operations funding
The MTEF (Medium Term Expenditure Framework - three year rolling government budget) allocated funding received
from the DHET. The funding for the NIHSS operations is not conditional and revenue is recognised when the funds are
received.
National Skills Fund (NSF)
The NSF funds all the NIHSS award projects (including the African Pathways Programme scholarship and BRICS Think
Tank). The funds for the projects are conditional and revenue is only recognised to the extent that expenditure is incurred.
National Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS)
NSFAS makes loans and grants bursaries to academically able but financially disadvantaged students, to enable them to
meet the costs of studying at higher education institutions.
The NIHSS through the NSF appropriates and pays funds to NSFAS to implement and administer student programmes on
behalf of the NIHSS, per contract terms. The funds are kept by NSFAS in an interest bearing call account.
NSFAS keeps the accounting records of the funds. The funds are rolled over each financial year, and any unspent funds
are refunded to the NIHSS at contract end.
The final bank balance of NSFAS is recognised as a receivable from NSFAS and deferred revenue (liability). The funds for
these loans/bursaries are conditional and revenue is only recognised to the extent that expenditure is incurred.

1.12 FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care
been exercised.
All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of
the expense, and where recovered it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.13 IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE
			
Irregular expenditure is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of or not in
accordance with the NIHSS supply chain policy.

1.14 RESERVES
Any surplus funds at the end of the financial year are retained and utilised for project expenditure in the new financial
year.

1.15 RELATED PARTIES
		
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial and operating decisions, or if the related party entity or another entity is subject
to common control. Where such a situation exists, the nature and type of transactions and relationships between parties
are disclosed in the notes to these financial statements.

1.16 COMMITMENTS
Commitments are disclosed where the NIHSS has, in the normal course of its operations, entered into a contractual
agreement with third parties for project expenses which are yet due for payment.
Commitments are measured at the amount the entity would pay to settle the obligation, to a third party at reporting date.
Commitments are included in the disclosure note to these financial statements.

1.17 REPORTING PERIOD
The reporting period for the 2016/17 financial year is 12 months.

1.18 COMPARATIVES
The NIHSS was established on 5 December 2013. The financial period for the 2015/16 financial year is over a 12 month
period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016.
					
Where there has been a change in accounting estimate to the extent that it gives rise to changes in assets and liabilities,
or relates to an item of net assets, the change is recognised by adjusting the carrying amount of the related asset, liability
or item of net assets in the period of the change. The comparative amounts are therefore not adjusted.

1.19 BUDGET INFORMATION
The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.
These financial statements and the approved budget are on the same basis of accounting, therefore a comparison of
actual performance with budgeted amounts for the reporting period has been included in the statement of comparison
of budget and actual amounts.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.20 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
Events after reporting date are those events, whether favourable or unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date
and the date when the financial statements are approved. Two types of events can be identified:
-

Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting
date); and

-

Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the
reporting date).

The NIHSS will adjust the amount recognised in the financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting
date once the event occurred.
The NIHSS will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate
cannot be made in respect of all material non-adjusting events, where non-disclosure could influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

1.21 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In preparing these financial statements, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts represented in these financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these
estimates, which may be material to these financial statements.
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at year
end, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year:
Estimation of useful lives and residual value
An assessment is done at the end of each reporting period of whether there is any indication that the entity’s expectations
about the residual values and the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets have changed since
the preceding reporting period. If any such indication exists, an estimation of the revised expected useful lives and/or
residual values is done.
Impairment of assets
The NIHSS assesses its receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the surplus or deficit, management makes judgements as to whether there is
observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from receivables.
Segment reporting
Management has assessed that the NIHSS operates as one segment both geographically and in service offering.
Therefore, Management has not divided the financial information into different segments as required by GRAP 18.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2. GENERAL INFORMATION
The creation of the National Institute for the Humanities and Social Sciences (NIHSS) to dynamise these fields of study
in South Africa’s higher education system has emerged out of a wide-ranging consultative process inaugurated by the
Minister of Higher Education and Training, Dr Bonginkosi Nzimande.
In 2010, the Minister of Higher Education and Training appointed a task team to develop a Charter on the Humanities and
Social Sciences. This was aimed at affirming the importance of the humanities and social sciences as forms of scholarship.
The final report of the Charter was submitted to the Minister on 4 August 2011. One of the key recommendations in the
report was the establishment of an institute for the promotion of the humanities and social sciences.
Guided by the overwhelming support for the recommendations from the stakeholders across the entire cultural divide
and for the establishment of the institute in particular, the Minister then provided for the establishment of the National
Institute for the Humanities and Social Sciences (NIHSS) through Government Gazette No. 37118 of 5 December 2013.
The scope of the NIHSS is that of advancing and coordinating scholarship, research and ethical practice in the fields of the
humanities and social science within and through the existing public universities and those to be established or declared
in future as public universities.
The functions of the NIHSS are to:
(a) Provide services to the higher education sphere within the humanities and social sciences;
(b) Advance learning within its specific scope or application by ensuring collaboration and/or coordination of the work of
higher education institutions; and
(c) Advise the Minister of Higher Education and Training on matters relating to its specific scope or application, or higher
education generally.

3. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
3.1 STANDARDS ISSUED, BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, there are standards and interpretations in issue but not yet
effective. These include the following standards and interpretations that are applicable to the NIHSS and may have an
impact on future financial statements:
Standard/Interpretation:
• GRAP 20: Related parties

Effective date:
Not yet effective

Expected impact:
This standard prescribes the disclosure of information
relevant to draw attention to the possibility that the
entity’s financial position and surplus/deficit may have
been affected by the existence of related parties.
It is not expected that this standard will significantly

• GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables

Not yet effective

impact future disclosures.
This standard prescribes the accounting requirements
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of statutory receivables.
It is not expected that this standard will significantly
impact future disclosures.
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Standard/Interpretation:
• GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals

Effective date:
Not yet effective

and Agents

Expected impact:
The objective of this standard is to outline principles
to be used by an entity to assess whether it is party
to a principal-agent arrangement, and whether it is a
principal or an agent in undertaking transactions in
terms of such arrangement.

3.2 STANDARDS ISSUED, NOT YET EFFECTIVE, AND NOT RELEVANT
The following standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective are not applicable to the
NIHSS and will not have an impact on future financial statements:
Standard/Interpretation:

Effective date:

Expected impact:

Not yet effective

No significant impact on future disclosures

in an Asset
• GRAP 34: Separate Financial

Not yet effective

No significant impact on future disclosures

Statements
• GRAP 35: Consolidated Financial

Not yet effective

No significant impact on future disclosures

Statements
• GRAP 36: Investments in Associates

Not yet effective

No significant impact on future disclosures

Not yet effective

No significant impact on future disclosures

Not yet effective

No significant impact on future disclosures

Not yet effective

No significant impact on future disclosures

• GRAP 32: Service Concession
Arrangements: Grantor
• GRAP17: Service Concession
Arrangements Where a Grantor
Controls a Significant Residual Interest

and Joint Ventures
• GRAP 37: Joint Arrangements
• GRAP 38: Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2017
Figures is Rands

Cost

2016

Accumulated

Carrying

depreciation

value

Cost

Accumulated

Carrying

depreciation

value

Office furniture and fittings

3 108 567

(357 640)

2 750 927

2 132 401

(75 381)

2 057 020

Office equipment

1 356 789

(225 082)

1 131 707

433 728

(34 438)

399 290

Computer equipment

1 084 367

(401 433)

682 934

558 131

(147 862)

410 269

Leasehold improvements

3 309 418

(1 345 650)

1 963 768

2 771 226

(348 141)

2 423 085

Office equipment - Project assets
Total

130 074

(10 719)

119 355

-

-

-

8 989 215

(2 340 524)

6 648 691

5 895 486

(605 822)

5 289 664

Additions

Disposals Depreciation

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2017

Figures is Rands

Opening
balance

Total

Office furniture and fittings                                    

2 057 020

976 166

-

(282 259)

2 750 927

Office equipment                                             

399 290

923 061

-

(190 644)

1 131 707

Computer equipment

410 269

547 634

(11 785)

(263 184)

682 934

Leasehold improvements

2 423 085

538 192

-

(997 509)

1 963 768

-

130 074

-

(10 719)

119 355

5 289 664

3 115 127

(11 785)

(1 744 315)

6 648 691

Office equipment - Project assets
Total

During the 2016/17 financial year, a total amount of R144 738 was incurred to repair and maintain various assets.

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2016

Figures is Rands

Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals Depreciation

Total

Office furniture and fittings                                    

-

2 132 401

-

(75 381)

2 057 020

Office equipment                                             

21 444

411 594

-

(33 749)

399 289

195 673

331 132

-

(116 535)

410 270

-

2 771 226

-

(348 141)

2 423 085

217 117

5 646 353

-

(573 806)

5 289 664

Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Total
Gross carrying value

2017

2016

Office furniture and fittings                                    

2 750 927

2 057 020

Office equipment                                             

1 131 707

399 289

Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment - Project assets
Total

682 934

410 270

1 963 768

2 423 085

119 355

-

6 648 691

5 289 664
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2017

2016

Accumulated

Carrying

Accumulated

Figures is Rands
Computer software

Cost amortisation
501 724
(162 425)

value
339 299

Cost amortisation
228 132
(126 556)

Internally generated computer

940 855

(114 587)

826 268

-

-

-

1 442 579

(277 012)

1 165 567

228 132

(126 556)

101 576

software
Total

Carrying
value
101 576

The NIHSS has developed a grant management system internally during the 2016/17 financial year. The cumulative
expenditure on developing the system has been recognised in the carrying amount of these intangible assets.
Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2017
Opening
Figures is Rands

balance

Computer software

101 576

273 592

(35 870)

339 298

-

940 855

(114 586)

826 269

101 576

1 214 447

(150 455)

1 165 567

Internally generated computer
software
Total

Additions Amortisation

Total

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2016
Opening
Figures is Rands
Computer software
Figures is Rands

balance
59 954

Additions Amortisation
160 167

(118 545)
2017

Total
101 576
2016

Gross carrying value
Computer software

339 298

101 576

6. PREPAYMENTS
Assets paid in advance

-

236 749

Rental paid in advance

216 570

207 904

Warranty prepayment

3 531

14 369

Other prepayments
Total
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9 975

-

230 076

459 022

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
7. RECEIVABLES
Figures is Rands

Notes

2017

2016

Receivables from exchange transactions
Interest receivable
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

24

Other receivables

-

53 695

128 765

-

230 629

644 247

359 394

697 942

Receivables from non-exchange transactions
DHET receivable (Operations)
DHET receivable (Awards NSF)
DHET receivable (Scholarships NSFAS)

-

6 756 009

11 723 378

11 723 378

4 260 507

14 756 584

-

7 612 500

15 983 885

40 848 471

16 343 279

41 546 413

NSF additional receivable (BRICS Think Tank)
Total receivables
The DHET receivable is the remaining funds due to the NIHSS from the DHET.

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
NIHSS operating bank account
NIHSS NSF bank account
Cash on hand
Investments
Total

210 020

11 284 369

11 395 213

40 031 694

1 602

2 329

89 346 971

-

100 953 806

51 318 392

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the NIHSS. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their
fair values.

8.1 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Credit card

69 489

-

Total

69 489

-
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9. PAYABLES
Figures is Rands

Notes

2017

2016

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Trade payables

5 020 148

1 459 933

572 669

322 992

5 592 817

1 782 925

Accrued leave pay

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity
of these financial liabilities.
Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
Trade payables

23 876 291

-

Trade payables (NSF)

63 853 590

51 002 228

Trade payables (NSFAS)

19 288 507

14 756 584

-

7 612 500

107 018 388

73 371 312

112 611 205

75 154 237

-

-

963 432

-

-

-

963 432

-

Trade payables (NSF additional for BRICS Think Tank)
Total Payables

9.1 PROVISIONS
Opening carrying amount
Additional amount provided
Amounts paid out
Closing carrying amount

The provision relates to provisions for performance incentives which are expected to be paid out at the end of August
2017. These are performance based and are driven by the employees’ performance evaluations.

10. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITY
Finance lease liability
Less: Short-term portion disclosed under current liabilities
Non-current lease liability
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17.2

182 189

-

(113 252)

-

68 937

-

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
11. REVENUE
Figures is Rands

Notes

Investment revenue - Interest
Government funding

2017
3 977 391

399 537

144 462 429

82 936 339

7 474

-

148 447 294

83 335 876

3 977 391

399 537

Other income
Total

2016

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services is as follows:
Investment revenue - interest

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:
Transfer revenue (government funding)
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) - operations funding

25 081 000

23 822 207

National Skills Fund (NSF)

63 994 229

30 044 132

National Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS)

55 387 200

29 070 000

144 462 429

82 936 339

17 524 130

10 218 496

Overtime

88 779

-

Unemployment Insurance Fund (UIF)

53 377

30 154

Skills Development Levy (SDL)

162 319

97 501

Acting allowances

401 691

-

42 243

-

Arbitration awards

463 493

-

Accrued leave pay

249 678

215 388

Provision for performance incentives

963 432

-

41 989

-

19 991 130

10 561 539

Total government funding

12. EMPLOYEE-RELATED COSTS
Basic salaries

Subsistence allowances

Provident fund - employer contributions
Total
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13. PROJECT EXPENSES
Figures is Rands

Notes

2017

2016

Awards
Catalytic Projects

9 971 580

8 296 404

Heritage Hubs

7 931 519

1 616 667

BRICS collaboration

2 635 225

3 193 499

Pan African South collaboration

619 211

2 042 586

Awards

707 025

432 563

Evaluation panels and award ceremony

2 950 817

1 834 572

Working Groups

5 453 628

746 500

930 169

-

BRICS Think Tank

6 058 445

923 487

Emeriti Professors

6 056 518

2 710 604

501 340

-

2 423 218

-

African Pathways Teaching and Research Mobility

655 160

-

National and regional workshops and seminars

199 739

-

5 352 565

-

844 071

434 954

Total Awards

53 290 230

22 231 836

African Pathways Programme (NSF funded scholarships)

10 704 000

7 812 295

Scholarships (NSFAS)

55 387 200

29 070 000

Total scholarships

66 091 200

36 882 295

119 381 430

59 114 131

Professional Associations

Doctoral Schools
National Doctoral Conference

NSF project administration costs
Workshop costs (project)

Total project expenses

98

SECTION F | ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
14. GENERAL EXPENSES
Figures is Rands

Notes

2017

2016

Audit fees - external

890 120

629 454

Audit fees - internal

286 715

-

Advertising and promotions

966 035

244 076

17 993

33 538

290 256

66 261

49 871

27 772

1 268 174

288 913

7 298

12 897

Insurance

108 164

-

Internet costs

260 236

-

17 688

6 213

568 987

382 576

41 040

-

2 466

13 960

434 436

90 218

60 791

34 918

226 946

12 899

7 422

-

46 787

-

Staff recruitment

826 444

529 855

Staff refreshments

254 156

48 333

Staff training

266 762

21 510

298 488

-

47 242

-

Supplies and services

242 463

554 422

Telephone and fax

303 583

83 623

Travel and accommodation

386 884

314 175

Water and electricity

680 749

-

15 547

13 090

Workshop costs (operational)

1 114 472

225 145

Total

9 988 215

3 633 848

Bank charges
Board member emoluments
Cleaning
Consulting fees
Courier and postages

Rental of equipment - finance costs
Legal fees
Licenses
Meetings costs
Printing and stationery
Rates and taxes
Repairs and maintenance

4

Security expenses
Small assets

Staff welfare
Subscriptions to professional bodies

Warranty costs

25
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15. INVESTMENT REVENUE
Figures is Rands
Investment interest at the beginning of year

Notes

2017

2016

(53 695)

10 129

3 977 391

399 537

-

(53 695)

3 923 696

355 971

(5 538 594)

7 080 011

1 894 772

692 350

420 778

(29 787)

10 289

(44 485)

(Increase) in receivables from exchange transactions and prepayments

12 175 575

(1 146 835)

Decrease/(Increase) in receivables from non-exchange transactions

24 864 586

14 273 446

Increase in trade and other payables from exchange transactions

16 871 130

767 162

9 770 783

32 358 121

Net interest income received per income statement
Accrued net interest income at the end of year
Investment income

16. NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
(Decrease)/Increase in operating lease liability
Changes in working capital:
(Increase) in inventories

Increase in trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
Increase/(Decrease) in retained earnings

100
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(6 756 009)

-

53 713 310

53 949 983

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS
17.1. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS - AS LESSEE (EXPENSE)
Figures is Rands

Notes

2017

2016

Minimum lease payments due:
- within one year

2 696 344

2 491 552

- in second to fifth year (inclusive)

1 652 493

4 368 338

4 348 838

6 859 890

The NIHSS has occupied a new office space from 1 November 2015. These premises are an operating lease over a three-year
period. The building is located on Erf 902, 24 St Andrews Road, Parktown.
17.2. Finance lease commitments - as lessee
Reconciliation of total future minimum lease payments and their present values:

Figures is Rands
Due not later than one year (current liabilities)
Due later than one year and not later than five years (non-current liabilities)

Present
value

Interest

Payment

113 252

13 782

127 035

68 937

2 694

71 631

182 189

16 477

198 666

The Institute has entered into two finance lease agreements, for the rental of photocopying and printing equipment,
which are due to expire on 31 August 2018 and 31 March 2019 respectively. There are no annual escalation clauses
associated with the leases. The leases have been accounted for in terms of GRAP 13. No provision has been made for the
option to renew the leases on expiry.
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17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
Project commitments
All projects and African Pathways Programme scholarships are funded by the National Skills Fund (NSF).
The contract period range from 1 to 3 years for all projects.

PROJECTS
Contractual
Institution/Entity

Programme

value at
31 March

Catalytic Research

Witwatersrand

Projects CRP 01508

University of KwaZulu-Natal
University of the Western Cape

Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01501
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01506

University of the

Catalytic Research

Witwatersrand

Projects CRP 01509

University of Cape Town

Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01503

University of the

Catalytic Research

Witwatersrand

Projects CRP 01510

University of Limpopo
University of the Western Cape
Chris Hani Institute

Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01511
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01502
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01507

University of the

Catalytic Research

Witwatersrand

Projects CRP 01505

Rhodes University
Stellenbosch University
University of Johannesburg
Walter Sisulu University
The Liliesleaf Trust
ICSSR
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Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01504
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01513
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01514
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP 01512
Humanities Hubs NIHSSLF 001
BRICS Collaboration
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for year

Expenditure Contractual
for the year

value at

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

237 500

237 500

-

137 500

-71 498

208 998

320 000

320 000

-

808 998

-

249 806

-

249 806

170 000

-137 500

307 500

390 000

195 000

195 000

248 000

248 000

-

322 750

-

131 170

131 170

-

386 750

386 750

-

2016
University of the

New
contracts

208 998

222 750

ending 31
March 2017

600 000

100 000

-

-

-

-

-

-

100 000

594 368

594 760

99 608

3 551 553

540 000

2 315 225

1 776 328

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
PROJECTS
Contractual
Institution/Entity

Programme

value at
31 March
2016

University of Johannesburg
Mapungubwe Institute
University of Johannesburg
University of the Western Cape

Working Groups
WG2015001
Working Groups
WG2015002
Working Groups
WG2015003
Working Groups
WG2015004

University of the

Working Groups

Witwatersrand

WG2015005

University of the

Working Groups

Witwatersrand

WG2015006

South African History Online
University of Cape Town
Stellenbosch University

Working Groups
WG2015007
BRICS Collaboration
BRICS201501
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015014

University of the

Emeriti Professors

Witwatersrand

NMP2015007

University of Limpopo/Venda
University of Fort Hare
University of South Africa
University of KwaZulu-Natal
University of Pretoria
Rhodes University
Rhodes University
North-West University

Emeriti Professors
NMP2015002
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015003
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015009
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015006
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015005
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015012
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015013
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015004

New
contracts
for year
ending 31
March 2017

Expenditure Contractual
for the year

value at

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

100 000

30 000

115 000

15 000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

83 000

500 000

583 000

-

320 000

320 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

Annual
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
PROJECTS
Contractual
Institution/Entity

Programme

value at

University of Zululand
University of South Africa

Emeriti Professors
NMP2015001
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015011
Emeriti Professors
NMP2015010

Nelson Mandela Metropolitan

Emeriti Professors

University

NMP2015008

University of the

Catalytic Research

Witwatersrand

Projects CRP015015

University of Cape Town
University of Cape Town
University of Pretoria
University of Johannesburg
University of Cape Town

Catalytic Research
Projects CRP015016
Emiriti Professors
NMP2015015
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01622
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01618
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01639

Nelson Mandela Metropolitan

Catalytic Research

University

Projects CRP01628

University of the Western Cape
University of Pretoria
University of Pretoria

Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01617
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01619
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01611

Durban University of

Catalytic Research

Technology

Projects CRP01605

University of the

Catalytic Research

Witwatersrand

Projects CRP01625

University of the

Catalytic Research

Witwatersrand

Projects CRP016033

University of the

Catalytic Research

Witwatersrand

Projects CRP01603
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contracts

Expenditure Contractual
for the year

value at

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

-

200 000

-

200 000

200 000

200 000

-

240 000

-

240 000

225 000

225 000

-

31 March
2016

University of the Western Cape

New
for year
ending 31
March 2017

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

132 500

132 500

-

-

570 380

342 228

228 152

-

835 000

835 000

-

-

838 660

838 660

-

-

1 190 000

1 190 000

-

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

880 000

880 000

-

-

533 500

320 100

213 400

-

300 000

180 000

120 000

-

600 000

600 000

-

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
PROJECTS
Contractual
Institution/Entity

Programme

value at
31 March
2016

University of Cape Town

Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01643

University of the Western

Catalytic Research

Cape/UKZN

Projects CRP01601

University of the

Working Groups

Witwatersrand

WGO01624

University of Cape Town
University of Cape Town
University of KwaZulu-Natal
University of Pretoria
University of KwaZulu-Natal

Working Groups
WGO01637
African Pathways Mobility
Programme MG01605
African Pathways Mobility
Programme MG01609
African Pathways Mobility
Programme MG01611
African Pathways Mobility
Programme MG01614

University of the

African Pathways Mobility

Witwatersrand

Programme MG01617

University of Cape Town
University of Pretoria
Walter Sisulu University
University of Johannesburg
University of Johannesburg
University of Cape Town

African Pathways Mobility
Programme MG01620
African Pathways Mobility
Programme MG01625
African Pathways Mobility
Programme MG01634
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01647
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01646
Catalytic Research
Projects CRP01645

Human Sciences Research

Working Groups

Council

WGO01632

University of Venda
University of South Africa

Working Groups
WG01640
Working Groups
WG01641

New
contracts
for year
ending 31
March 2017

Expenditure Contractual
for the year

value at

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

897 200

538 320

358 880

-

300 000

180 000

120 000

-

32 328

32 328

-

-

139 200

139 200

-

-

139 200

139 200

-

-

89 588

89 588

-

-

64 760

64 760

-

-

27 943

27 943

-

-

91 192

91 192

-

-

35 000

35 000

-

-

150 000

90 000

60 000

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

300 000

180 000

120 000

-

784 486

784 486

-

-

100 000

60 000

40 000

-

300 000

300 000

-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
PROJECTS
Contractual
Institution/Entity

Programme

value at
31 March
2016

Nayanaya Pictures (Pty) Ltd
Abantu Book Festival

Working Groups
Programme WG01650
Working Groups
Programme WGO01642

University of the

Working Groups

Witwatersrand

Programme WGO01646

University of the Free State
University of Fort Hare
University of South Africa
University of Kwazulu-Natal
University of Kwazulu-Natal
Association of Southern
African Professional
Archaeologists (ASAPA)

Working Groups
Programme WG01643
Working Groups
Programme CRP01614
Working Groups
Programme WG01651
Working Groups
Programme WG01652
Working Groups
Programme WG01657
Professional Associations
Programme PRA 0105

Historical Association of South Professional Associations
Africa (HASA)

Programme PRA 0102

University of Venda

Humanities Hubs

University of South Africa

Humanities Hubs

Philosophical Society of

Professional Associations

Southern Africa (PSSA)

Programme PRA 0104

Society of South African

Professional Associations

Geographers (SAAG)

Programme PRA 0103

South African Sociological

Professional Associations

Association (SAAG)

Programme PRA 0106

Association of South African
Social Work Education
Institutions (ASASWEI)

Professional Associations
Programme PRA0107

New
contracts
for year
ending 31
March 2017

Expenditure Contractual
for the year

value at

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

100 000

100 000

-

-

120 000

120 000

-

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

250 000

250 000

-

-

192 100

192 100

-

-

170 800

-

170 800

-

250 000

250 000

-

-

40 000

40 000

-

-

600 000

600 000

-

300 000

-

300 000

-

31 500

31 500

-

-

250 000

250 000

-

-

168 700

168 700

-

-

160 000

160 000

-

-

90 000

90 000

-

African Pathways Teaching
University of Fort Hare

and Research Mobility
Programme NIHSS/
APP1:2016
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
PROJECTS
Contractual
Institution/Entity

Programme

value at
31 March
2016

New
contracts
for year
ending 31
March 2017

Expenditure Contractual
for the year

value at

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

African Pathways Teaching
University of Zululand

and Research Mobility
Programme NIHSS/

-

100 000

100 000

-

-

111 000

111 000

-

-

131 000

131 000

-

-

40 000

40 000

-

-

100 000

100 000

-

-

80 000

80 000

-

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

Annual
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APP2:2016
African Pathways Teaching
North-West University

and Research Mobility
Programme NIHSS/
APP3:2016
African Pathways Teaching

North-West University

and Research Mobility
Programme NIHSS/
APP4:2016
African Pathways Teaching

University of South Africa

and Research Mobility
Programme NIHSS/
APP5:2016
African Pathways Teaching

University of Fort Hare

and Research Mobility
Programme NIHSS/
APP6:2016
African Pathways Teaching

Nelson Mandela Metropolitan

and Research Mobility

University

Programme NIHSS/
APP7:2016

University of South Africa
University of the Western Cape
University of Limpopo
University of South Africa

Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/06
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/15
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/02
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/14

University of the

Emeriti Professors

Witwatersrand

NMP2017/08

Nelson Mandela Metropolitan

Emeriti Professors

University

NMP2017/12

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
PROJECTS
Contractual
Institution/Entity

Programme

value at
31 March
2016

University of Zululand
Rhodes University
University of Fort Hare
University of Venda
Prof Fred Hendricks
Stellenbosch University
University of Johannesburg
North-West University
University of Kwazulu-Natal
University of Cape Town
Prof Nhlanhla Maake

Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/04
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/13
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/18
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/16
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/19
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/10
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/01
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/09
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/11
Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/17
Emeriti Professors NMP
2017/20

Durban University of

Emeriti Professors

Technology

NMP2017/03

University of the

Emeriti Professors

Witwatersrand

NMP2017/07

University of the

Emeriti Professors

Witswatersrand

NMP2017/21

University of Pretoria

Emeriti Professors
NMP2017/05

University of the

Working Groups

Witwatersrand

WGO01647

University of the

Working Groups

Witwatersrand

WG1655

University of South Africa
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New
contracts
for year
ending 31
March 2017

Expenditure Contractual
for the year

value at

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

-

300 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

150 000

150 000

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

100 000

100 000

-

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
PROJECTS
Contractual
Institution/Entity

Programme

value at
31 March
2016

University of South Africa
University of the
Witwatersrand

Working Groups
WG01653

New
contracts
for year
ending 31
March 2017

Expenditure Contractual
for the year

value at

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

150 000

150 000

-

-

3 000 000

1 500 000

1 500 000

-

3 000 000

-

3 000 000

-

1 058 000

529 000

529 000

-

2 208 700

1 104 350

1 104 350

-

3 000 000

1 500 000

1 500 000

Annual
Annual
Report
Report
2016
2016/17
/ 2017

109

BRICS Academic Cluster
NIHSS/BRICS-Cluster
04.3:2017
BRICS Academic Cluster

University of Kwazulu-Natal

NIHSS/BRICS-Cluster
03:2017
BRICS Academic Cluster

University of Zululand

NIHSS/BRICS-Cluster
03:2017
BRICS Academic Cluster

University of Kwazulu-Natal

NIHSS/BRICS-Cluster
04:2017
BRICS Academic Cluster

University of Johannesburg

NIHSS/BRICS-Cluster
05:2017
BRICS Academic Cluster

HSRC

NIHSS/BRICS-Cluster
01:2017
BRICS Academic Cluster

University of the Free State

NIHSS/BRICS-Cluster
04.2:2017
BRICS Academic Cluster

HSRC

NIHSS/BRICS-Cluster
04.3:2017

Freedom Park
University of Fort Hare
iSimangaliso Humanities Hub

Humanities Hubs
'00201703HUB
Humanities Hubs
'00201705HUB
Humanities Hubs
'00201706HUB

Lwandle Migrant Labour

Humanities Hubs

Museum

'00201702HUB

Mapungubwe National Park &
Word Heritage Site Sanparks

Humanities Hubs
Programme
'00201707HUB

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
PROJECTS
Contractual
Institution/Entity

Programme

value at
31 March
2016

The Hunterstoun Heritage

Humanities Hubs

Centre, University of Fort Hare '00201704HUB
Origins Humanities Hub

Humanities Hubs
'00201708HUB

Prof Patrick Bond

BRICS Civil Engagement

University of the

BRICS Research Projects

Witwatersrand

NIHSS/BRICSRP 201701

University of KwaZulu-Natal
HSRC

BRICS Research Projects
NIHSS/BRICSRP 201702
BRICS Research Projects

University of Pretoria

BRICS Mobility Programme
NIHSS/BRICS5:2016

University of the

BRICS Mobility Programme

Witwatersrand

NIHSS/BRICS6:2016

Stellenbosch University
Walter Sisulu University

BRICS Mobility Programme
NIHSS/BRICS1:2016
BRICS Mobility Programme
NIHSS/BRICS7:2016

University of the

BRICS Mobility Programme

Witwatersrand

NIHSS/BRICS2:2016

University of the

BRICS Mobility Programme

Witwatersrand

NIHSS/BRICS4:2010

University of Johannesburg

BRICS Mobility Programme
NIHSS/BRICS3:2016

New
contracts
for year
ending 31
March 2017

Expenditure Contractual
for the year

value at

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

-

1 241 000

710 500

530 500

-

1 500 000

750 000

750 000

-

240 000

240 000

-

-

950 000

570 000

380 000

-

590 000

354 000

236 000

-

400 000

400 000

-

-

114 000

114 000

-

-

300 000

300 000

-

-

105 000

105 000

-

-

70 000

70 000

-

-

36 000

36 000

-

-

36 000

36 000

-

-

70 000

70 000

-

Prof Xolela Mangcu

Humanities Hubs

-

100 000

100 000

-

Prof Ngugi O' Thiongo

Working Groups

-

100 000

100 000

-

University of the

Catalytic Research

Witwatersrand

Projects

-

350 000

110 000

240 000

NSF project operational

16 912 420

expenses ^
TOTAL

10 122 027

44 349 105

53 290 230

^ These are operational expenses incurred to support the NSF projects that do not fall under a contract.
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18 093 322

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
17. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUES)
Contractual
Scholarships (African Pathways)

value at
31 March
2016

African Pathways Programme
African Pathways operational expenses #
TOTAL

1 008 000

New
contracts
for year

Write-off

-

15 456 000

value at

ending 31

31 March
2017

630 000

10 704 000

5 130 000

-

-

630 000

10 704 000

5 130 000

Expenditure

Contractual

for the year

value at

March 2017

1 008 000

Contractual

for the year
March 2017

ending 31
15 456 000

Expenditure

# These are operational expenses incurred to support the African Pathways Programme.

Contractual
Scholarships (SAHUDA)

value at
31 March
2016

New
contracts
for year
ending 31
March 2017

ending 31

31 March

March 2017

2017

Scholarships (NSFAS)

-

58 363 200

55 387 200

2 976 000

TOTAL

-

58 363 200

55 387 200

2 976 000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
18. RELATED PARTIES
Relationship
Controlling entity:

Department of Higher Education
and Training (DHET)

Entities under common control: NSF and NSFAS
Members of key management:
Members of the Board:

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

CEO

Tumelo Mokoena

Acting CFO

Prof Aristides Sitas (Chairperson)
Prof Ahmed Bawa
Dr Vukile Khumalo
Prof Pamela Maseko
Dr Bernard Nthambeleni
Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize
Prof Sam Moyo (to November 2015)
Prof Fiona Tregenna
Alex Mashilo
Luli Callinicos
Ivor Baatjes
Prof Rosemary Moeketsi
Dr John Pampallis
Stephen Smith
Nokuthula Selamolela (Chairperson of
Audit and Risk Committee)

Figures is Rands

2017

2016

Related party balances
Receivables
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)

15 983 885

40 848 471

83 142 097

73 371 312

Payables
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)

The DHET incurred accounting costs (R0) on behalf of the NIHSS for the 2016/17 financial year (2015/16: R 2 786 841).
All related party balances and transactions to the DHET include the transfer to/from the National Skills Fund.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
18. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUES)
Figures is Rands

2017

2016

Related party transactions
Transactions
Revenue
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)

144 462 429

82 936 339

Chief Executive Officer

1 376 733

-

Acting Chief Financial Officer

1 181 549

-

Total

2 558 282

4 879 142

Prof Aristides Sitas

40 355

13 160

Prof Ahmed Bawa

7 575

-

Dr Vukile Khumalo

-

4 743

Prof Pamela Maseko

27 630

6 925

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

28 660

10 483

Remuneration - members of key management

The key management group consists of the NIHSS' CEO and Acting CFO.
Remuneration - Board members

Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize

-

-

Prof Sam Moyo (to November 2015)

-

2 550

Prof Fiona Tregenna

23 300

6 925

Alex Mashilo

10 100

5 000

Luli Callinicos

14 500

7 925

Ivor Baatjes

19 550

2 500

Prof Rosemary Moeketsi

28 495

6 050

John Pampallis

48 580

-

Stephen Smith

27 370

-

Nokuthula Selamolela (Chairperson of Audit and Risk Committee)

14 140

-

290 256

66 261

TOTAL

The Board consists of members appointed in terms of Government Gazette No. 37118. Remuneration is paid to members.
The NIHSS has remunerated members of the Board for attending Board and sub-committee meetings as disclosed
above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
18. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUES)
Figures is Rands

2017

2016

Transactions made to organisations associated with Board members **
Entities associated with Board members

Associating Board members

University of Cape Town

Prof Aristides Sitas

Robben Island Museum Council

Luli Callinicos

-

Mapungubwe Institute for Strategic Reflection Luli Callinicos

115 000

4 113 373

University of South Africa

Prof Rosemary Moeketsi

1 505 017

University of Johannesburg

Prof Fiona Tregenna

1 382 728

University of Venda

Dr Bernard N Nthambeleni

1 323 900

University of KwaZulu-Natal

Prof Aristides Sitas

4 072 888

Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University

Ivor Baatjes

1 654 670

North-West University

Alex Mashilo

Rhodes University

Prof Pamela Maseko

592 000
1 401 756

Durban University of Technology

Prof Ahmed Bawa

-

DHET

John Pampallis

-

University of the Witwatersrand

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa (CEO) and
Prof Fiona Tregenna

Total

5 348 823
21 510 155

** These transactions are between the NIHSS and the entities that are associated with Board members/CEO, and none
of these particular ones were paid directly to the board member/CEO.
All transactions above occurred under terms that were no more favourable than those available in similar arm's length
dealings.

19. RISK MANAGEMENT
The focus of risk management in the NIHSS is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk
across the NIHSS. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, management endeavours to minimise it by ensuring
that the appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethics are applied throughout the NIHSS and managed within
predetermined procedures and constraints.
As the NIHSS acquires finance from the DHET and does not have borrowed funds, it does not have major exposure to
credit, liquidity, interest and market risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the NIHSS will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  Ultimate responsibility
for liquidity risk management rests with the DHET, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework
for the management of the NIHSS’ short-, medium- and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
19. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUES)
2016/17
Figures is Rands
Payables from exchange transactions
2015/16
Figures is Rands
Payables from exchange transactions

6 months or
less
5 592 817
6 months or
less
1 782 925

6-12 months

1-2 years

-

6-12 months

-

1-2 years

-

-

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
meet an obligation.
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as outstanding
receivables and committed transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only highly reputable financial institutions
are used.
2016/17
The ageing of receivables from exchange transactions
Not past due
The ageing of cash and cash equivalents
Not past due

Gross Impairment
359 394

2017: Total

-

359 394

Gross Impairment

2017: Total

100 953 806

-

100 953 806

Gross Impairment

2016: Total

2015/16
The ageing of receivables from exchange transactions
Not past due
The ageing of cash and cash equivalents
Not past due

697 942

-

697 942

Gross Impairment

2016: Total

51 318 392

-

51 318 392

Market risk
No significant events occurred during the year in the market that the NIHSS is aware of.
Interest rate risk
The NIHSS has limited exposure to interest rate risk. The NIHSS cash and cash equivalents are subject to interest rate
risk for the portion of interest received. The interest rate risk is limited as funds are invested with one of the four major
banks and this is assessed annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
20. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
During the course of the 2016/17 financial year, the DHET will assess the remaining 2015/16 funding allocation in
accordance with the 2015/16 NIHSS business plan. This assessment will determine if the remaining receivable from
non-exchange transactions (Note 7) will remain.

21. BUDGET DIFFERENCES
Notes to statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts

Item

Reason

Investment revenue

Government funding

Interest received was over the budgeted amount due to cash on hand during the
financial year.
The full allocation of funding for both operations and projects was received in the
financial year.
The variance is due to deferred revenue which will be recognised as soon as grant
conditions are met.

Employee-related costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Rent and utilities

The majority of vacant positions have been filled in the 2016/17 financial year.
The variance is due to asset additions during the 2016/17 financial year. All assets
purchased were budgeted for.
Rent is slightly over budget due to escalation clauses imposed.
The full allocation of funding for both operations and projects was received in the

Project expenses

financial year.
The amount under budget has been fully committed and is to be disbursed as soon
as contract conditions are met.
General expenses were incurred during the financial year and in line with budget.

General expenses

The amount over budget was financed from funds rolled over from the 2015/16
financial year.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE
Categories of financial instruments
2016/17
Financial assets
Figures is Rands
Receivables from exchange transactions

At amortised cost

Total

359 394

359 394

15 983 885

15 983 885

Cash and cash equivalents

100 953 806

100 953 806

Total

117 297 085

117 297 085

Receivables from non-exchange transactions

Financial liabilities
Figures is Rands

At amortised cost

Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

5 592 817

5 592 817

Total

5 592 817

5 592 817

2015/16
Financial assets
Figures is Rands
Receivables from exchange transactions

At amortised cost

Total

697 942

697 942

Receivables from non-exchange transactions

40 848 471

40 848 471

Cash and cash equivalents

51 318 392

51 318 392

Total

92 864 805

92 864 805

Financial liabilities
Figures is Rands

At amortised cost

Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

1 782 925

1 782 925

Total

1 782 925

1 782 925

23. CONTINGENCIES
There are no contingencies for the 2016/17 financial year in addition to the commitments disclosed above (Note 17).
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24. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure to the value of R128 764.74 was identified by management during the 2016/17
financial year. This was as a result of alleged fraudulent transactions by a staff member where various goods were
allegedly purchased for personal use. Upon detection by management, this was investigated internally and a criminal
case opened with the South African Police Services. The staff member concerned resigned on 7 February 2017 and has
signed an acknowledgement of debt for the full amount of fruitless and wasteful expenditure. The criminal case is still
under investigation and the amount will therefore be recovered through the Magistrate Court.
Figures is Rands

2017

2016

Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure:
Opening balance
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred

-

-

128 765

-

-

-

128 765

-

-

-

959 791

-

-

-

959 791

-

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure condoned
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure awaiting recovery

25. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE
Reconciliation of irregular expenditure:
Opening balance
Irregular expenditure incurred
Irregular expenditure condoned
Irregular expenditure awaiting condonement

Under Staff Welfare, a transaction to the value of R109 581 was identified by management as a fraudulent transaction,
resulting in irregular expenditure. The goods purchased were received; however, the SCM process was not duly followed.
The Accounting Authority has been notified of this transaction and a criminal case of fraud has been opened against the
accused former employee. This amount has been expensed during the financial year. The accused has not acknowledged
the debt.
Furthermore, an amount of R850 210 for various procurements has been disclosed as irregular expenditure. For these
procurements, requests for quotations were sent to three service providers and the three service providers were not
responsive to the requests for quotations. Upon follow-ups, the suppliers were still not responsive.
The reasons for not having the three quotations were noted on the evaluation sheets and signed by the SCM official.
The delegated official did not sign off a deviation for not obtaining three quotations.
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25. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE (CONTINUES)

2017

2016

Figures is Rands

2017

Employee wellness

30 484

-

Media monitoring

110 462

-

24 277

-

367 498

-

Advertising (X2)

66 100

-

IT services (X2)

52 225

-

Catering (X3)
Office refurbishments (X2)

2016

License renewals

45 463

-

Office equipments (X3)

56 848

-

Marketing material (X3)

86 303

-

Staff training

10 550

-

850 210

-

Total

26. GOING CONCERN
There are no known instances that cast doubt on the ability of the NIHSS to continue as a going concern.

27. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
Estimation of useful lives and residual value
Management is of the opinion that all assets of the NIHSS have a useful life that is equal to their economic life, as assets
are used to a point where they cannot be sold on an open market. Management therefore considers the residual value
to not be material and significant.
Impairment of assets
Management is of the opinion that there is no objective evidence that individually or as a group the receivables will not
be recoverable.
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28. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE
The useful lives of computer equipment and computer software are as follows:
Average useful life

Depreciation rates

Computer equipment

2-4 years

25%-50%

Computer software

1-2 years

50%-100%

An assessment was done at the end of the 2016/17 reporting period to ascertain whether there was any indication that
the entity’s expectations about the residual values and the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets had changed since the preceding reporting period. Such an indication did exist for a few items of computer
equipment and computer software and the useful lives were revised as follows (only on those specific items):
Average useful life

Depreciation rates

Computer equipment

Extended by 2 more years

25%-50%

Computer software

Extended by 2 more years

50%-100%

The revised useful lives had the following effect on the carrying amounts of the assets:
Computer equipment

Increase in carrying amount

6 482

Computer software

increase in carrying amount

82 214

Total

88 696

The change above was recognised by adjusting the carrying amounts of the related assets.

29. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
Subsequent to the 2016/17 reporting period, communication was received from the DHET on 24 April 2017 regarding
outstanding funding for the 2014/15 and 2016/17 financial years. In the communication, it was noted that the amounts
of R6 756 009 (2014/15) and R235 954 (2016/17) due to the NIHSS have been reprioritised within the Department and
are therefore not recoverable by the NIHSS. This event provides evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date
(adjusting events after the reporting date) and has been adjusted accordingly.
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